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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

Form 10-K
(Mark One)

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF EFBECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 192
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008

OR
O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(dy ®HE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 19:
For the transition period from to

Commission file number 001-33449

TOWERSTREAM CORPORATION
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its @t

Delaware 20-825908¢€
(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation oganization) (I.R.S. Employer Identification No
55 Hammarlund Way 02842
Middletown, Rhode Island (Zip Code)

(Address of principal executive office
Registrant’s telephone number, including area ¢d0&) 848-5848
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(h@fAct:

Title of each clas Name of each exchange on which registe
Common Stock, par value $0.001 per st The NASDAQ Capital Marke

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(gh®fAct: None
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a welbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405co8#dturities Act. YeEl No
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuieed to file reports pursuant to Section 13 ord) % the Act. Yedd No
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant ¢ filed all reports required to be filed by Sewti8 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act of 1934
during the preceding 12 months (or for such shgréeiod that the registrant was required to filetsteports), and (2) has been subject to such
filing requirements for the past 90 days. &8s No O
Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquiletrs pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K (825 of this chapter) is not contained herein,
and will not be contained, to the best of regidtsaknowledge, in definitive proxy or informatiotasements incorporated by reference in Part llI
of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this FormKL@

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlerge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, @aocelerated filer, or a smaller reporting
company. See the definitions of “large accelerdited” “accelerated filer” and “smaller reportir@mpany” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated fileO Accelerated filer O
Non-accelerated filer O (Do not check if a smaller reporting compa Smaller reporting companyx]

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantseell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the A¢8sd No

The aggregate market value of the voting and ndmga@ommon equity held by non-affiliates compubsdreference to the price at which the
common stock was last sold as of the last busidag®of the registrant’s most recently completedaddiscal quarter was $33,531,615.

As of March 13, 2009, there were 34,587,854 shaff@€mmon Stock, par value $0.001 per share, audstg.
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the definitive Proxy Statement for 009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filedhwtite SEC within 120 days after the close of
the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008 are incatpd by reference into Part Ill of this Report.




Table of Contents

ltem 1
Iltem 1A
Iltem 1B

ltem 2

Iltem 3

Item 4

Iltem 5
Iltem 6
ltem 7
Iltem 7A
Iltem 8
Iltem 9
Item 9A(T).

Item 9B

Item 10
Iltem 11
ltem 12
Item 13

Item 14

Item 15

TOWERSTREAM CORPORATION AND SUBISIDIARIES

Table of Contents

PART |
Business
Risk Factors
Unresolved Staff Comment
Properties
Legal Proceeding:
Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Hold

PART II

Market for Registrar s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters asdds Purchases of Equity Securiti

Selected Financial Dat
Managemer's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditiond &esults of Operation
Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About MarRisk.
Financial Statements and Supplementary C
Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants @oéing and Financial Disclosul
Controls and Procedure
Other Information
PART Il
Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Govaoea
Executive Compensatio
Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners dahagement and Related Stockholder Mat
Certain Relationships and Related Transactionsaregttor Independenc
Principal Accountant Fees and Servic
PART IV

Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedt

Page

16
16
16

16

18
18
23
24
46
46

47

48
48
48
48

48

49




Table of Contents

PART I
Forward-Looking Statements

Forward-looking statements in this report, inclgdimithout limitation, statements related to Toweram Corporation’s plans, strategies,
objectives, expectations, intentions and adequécysources, are made pursuant to the safe harbeisfpns of the Private Securities Litigation
Reform Act of 1995. Investors are cautioned thahderward-looking statements involve risks andertainties including without limitation the
following: (i) Towerstream Corporatiog’plans, strategies, objectives, expectations medtions are subject to change at any time adidwetior
of Towerstream Corporation; (ii) Towerstream Cogimm’s plans and results of operations will beeeféd by Towerstream Corporation’s ability
to manage growth; and (iii) other risks and undatis indicated from time to time in Towerstreamr@oration’s filings with the Securities and
Exchange Commission.

In some cases, you can identify forward-lookindesteents by terminology such as “may,” “will,”should,” “could,” “expects,”
“plans,” “i ” “anticipates,” “believes,” “estimates,” “predicts,” “potential,” or “continue” or the negative of such terms or other

Mo LLNTs LT

comparabllgt?grdnii’nology. Although we believe that éixpectations reflected in the forwdodking statements are reasonable, we cannot gies
future results, levels of activity, performanceachievements. Moreover, neither we nor any othesgreassumes responsibility for the accuracy
and completeness of such statements. Readersutieneal not to place undue reliance on these fat@oking statements, which speak only as
of the date hereof. We are under no duty to upaayeof the forward-looking statements after theedxtthis report.

Factors that might affect our forward-looking staémnts include, among other things:

° overall economic and business conditic

° the demand for our goods and servic

° competitive factors in the industries in which vempete;

. changes in tax requirements (including tax ratengha, new tax laws and revised tax law interprenta)i

° the outcome of litigation and governmental procegslj

. interest rate fluctuations and other changes inobdng costs

° other capital market conditions, including availdpiof funding sources

° potential further impairment of our indefir-lived intangible assets and/or our I-lived assets; an

° changes in government regulations related to thadirand and Internet protocol industr
Item 1. Business.

Towerstream Corporation (“Towerstream”, “we”, “usdur” or the “Company”) provides fixed wirelessdadband services to
commercial customers based on a monthly recurgmgrnue model. We provide customers high speedniett@ccess over a fixed wireless
network transmitting over both regulated and unlaga radio spectrum. Our service supports banttivad demand, wireless redundancy, vir
private networks (“VPNs"), disaster recovery, buaditata and video services. We provide servicgpocximately 1,400 business customers in
New York City, Boston, Chicago, Los Angeles, Saarfeisco, Seattle, Miami, Dall-Fort Worth, Providence and Newport, Rhode Island.

We tailor our service offerings to satisfy customeeds based principally upon size. We offer custsrhandwidth connections ranging
from 0.5 megabits per second up to 1 gigabit peors@. As companies grow, they can increase theidwalth at any time in a variety of bits per
second increments, usually without additional iestian or equipment charges. Furthermore, regasdtd business size and connection package,
we guarantee uptime, latency and throughput byrioffecustomers technical credits against theirfbillperiods of down time.
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The Company maintains a websitentip://www.towerstream.com. Information contained on the Company’s websteadt incorporated
into this annual report on Form 10-K. Annual répan Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Qrent reports on Form 8-K, and all
amendments to those reports are available frebafye through the Securities and Exchange Commi¢$8EC”) Web site ahttp://idea.sec.gov
as soon as reasonably practicable after thosetseqa@r electronically filed with or furnished tetBEC.

Our Networks

We establish proprietary wireless networks in ealctne markets we serve by installing antennaeowrets, building rooftops or other
structures to send and receive wireless signalscddaect the customer to our Wireless Ring in tkyg &hich has no single point of failure. This
ring is fed by multiple lead Internet providersdted at opposite ends of our service cities. Wiebelthat we are the only wireless broadband
provider that offers true separate egress forredendancy. For new markets we enter, after ins¢piur wireless base stations and establishing
our wireless ring, we generally can activate nest@mers within two to seven business days of r@ogian order. Our coverage area can be
accessed by customers within approximately 10 nofesir installed base stations, depending upoatios and line of sight access.

Market Coverage

We intend to grow our business by deploying ouvisermore broadly and seeking to rapidly increasecoistomer base. We intend to
deploy our wireless broadband network broadly lwtterms of geography and categories of commeatidlibusiness customers. We intend to
increase the number of geographic markets we stkieg advantage of a staged roll-out model tdaepur services throughout major
additional United States markets. We also plaretuise a wide range of commercial customers, framalsbusinesses to large enterprises.

We determine which geographic markets to entersdsgssing a number of criteria in four broad categoFirst, we evaluate our ability to
deploy our service in a given market, taking inbmsideration our spectrum position, the availapiit towers and zoning constraints. Second, we
assess the market by evaluating the number of ciitonse existing price points, demographic charasties and distribution channels. Third, we
evaluate the economic potential of the market, $oayon our forecasts of revenue growth opportesiéind capital requirements. Finally, we look
at market clustering opportunities and other céf@tiencies that might be realized. Based on tipigraach, as of December 31, 2008, we offered
wireless broadband connectivity in nine marketsecioygg over 50% of small and medium business (@& &mployees) in the top 20 metropolitan
statistical areas.

We believe there are significant market opportesitieyond the nine markets in which we are cugr@ftéring our services. Our long
term plan is to expand nationally into other topnmeolitan markets in the United States. Howegeren the difficult economic environment
existing at the end of 2008, we have determinetifthahe foreseeable future, we intend to focusresources on strengthening our market
coverage in our existing markets rather than exjpgnidto new markets. We believe there are sigaift opportunities in our existing
markets. We plan to continue to monitor the bro@t®nomic environment, and based on future chargesell as our future operating
performance, will determine the appropriate timenter new markets.

Sales and Marketing

We hire salespeople to sell our services directlyusiness customers. As of December 31, 2008 mpdoged 97 direct salespeople. We
generally compensate these employees on a salas\cpimmission basis.

Our indirect sales channels include a variety dhatized representatives, such as integratorslleeseand online operators. Authorized
representatives assist in developing awarenessdoflemand for our service by promoting our servares brand as part of their own advertising
and direct marketing campaigns.

Competition

The market for broadband services is highly contipetiand includes companies that offer a varidtyesvices using a number of
distinctly different technological platforms, suah cable networks, digital subscriber lines (“DSlthjrd-generation cellular, satellite, wireless
Internet service and other emerging technologies.cdmpete with these companies on the basis gfdhability, ease of use, speed and price of
our respective services. Competitors to our wiels®adband services include:
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Incumbent Local Exchange Carriers and Common Local Exchange Carriers

We face competition from traditional wireline optena in terms of price, performance, discountedsébr bundles of services, breadth of
service, reliability, network security, and eas@oéess and use. In particular, we face competfit@n traditional wireline companies like Veriz
Communications Inc., Qwest Corporation and AT&T.Jradl of which are referred to as “incumbent lbeachange carriers,” or (“ILECS”), as
well as Covad Communications Group, Inc., Speakdasy, MegaPath Networks Inc., and One CommuracatiCorporation, all of which are
referred to as “common local exchange carrieis;,' (“CLECS”).

Cable Modem and DSL Services

We compete with companies that provide Interneneativity through cable modems or DSL. Principahpetitors include cable
companies, such as Comcast Corporation, and inauntdédephone companies, such as AT&T Inc. or Veri@@mmunications Inc. Both the cal
and telephone companies deploy their serviceswired networks initially designed for voice and emay data transmission that have
subsequently been upgraded to provide for additieeices.

Cellular and PCS Services

Cellular and personal communications service (“PQ&friers are seeking to expand their capacifyréwide data and voice services that
are superior to ours. These providers have sulisiigriiroader geographic coverage than we have fandhe foreseeable future, than we expe
have. If one or more of these providers can def@olinologies that compete effectively with our gzs, the mobility and coverage offered by
these carriers will provide even greater competitltan we currently face. Moreover, more advanatdlar and PCS technologies, such as third
generation mobile technologies, currently offerdstioand service with packet data transfer speedp tf 2,000,000 bits per second for fixed
applications, and slower speeds for mobile apptioat We expect that third generation technologdy lvé improved to increase connectivity
speeds to make it more suitable for a range ofrahéapplications.

Wireless Broadband Service Providers

We also face competition from other wireless br@adbservice providers that use licensed and urdegspectrum. In addition to these
commercial operators, many local governments, usities and other governmental or quasi-governmemtigties are providing or subsidizing
“WIiFi” networks over unlicensed spectrum, in sorm&ses at no cost to the user. There exist numesroah local urban and rural wireless
operations offering local services that could cotepeith us in certain of our present or plannedggaphic markets. In addition, in 2008, Sprint,
Google, Comcast, Time Warner, Intel and Brighthquewided Clearwire with over $3 billion in new ¢tgh to build out a nationwide WiMAX
network for consumers.

Satellite

Satellite providers, such as WildBlue Communicatidnc. and Hughes Network Systems, LLC, offer Hbzand data services that addre
niche market, mainly less densely populated ategtsatre unserved or underserved by competing sepvviders. Although satellite offers
service to a large geographic area, latency caoygdide time it takes for the signal to travel taldrom the satellite may challenge a satellite
provider's ability to provide some services, susiWaice over Internet Protocol (“VolP”), which rezhs the size of the addressable market.

Other
We believe other emerging technologies may alsk geenter the broadband services market. For elame are aware that several po

generation and distribution companies are seekirtgtelop or have already offered commercial braadlinternet services over existing electric
power lines.
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Competitive Strengths

Even though we face substantial existing and prdsmecompetition, we believe that we have a nundf@ompetitive advantages that will
allow us to retain existing customers and attr@et oustomers over time.

Reliability

As compared to cellular, cable and DSL networks dgemerally rely on infrastructure originally deségl for non-broadband purposes, our
network was designed specifically to support wisslbroadband services. We also connect the customer Wireless Ring in the Sky, which |
no single point of failure. This ring is fed by rtiple lead Internet providers located at oppositéseof our service cities and connected to our
national ring which is fed by multiple leading dars. We believe that we are the only wireless @ib@ad provider that offers true separate egress
for true redundancy. With DSL and cable offeringlswires are rendered dead by one backhoe swigwitch failure. Our Wireless Ring in the
Sky is backhoe-proof and weather-proof. As a resfulhese factors, our network has historicallyenignced reliability rates of approximately
99%.

Value

We own our entire network, which enables us toepaur services lower than most of our competitBpecifically, we are able to offer
competitive prices because we do not have to Hoga loop charge from the telephone company.

Efficient Economic Model

Our economic model is characterized by low fixeditz and operating expenditures relative to othieeless and wireline broadband
service providers. We own our entire network, thgrdispensing with the costs involved in using $imevned by telephone or cable companies.
Our system is expandable and covers an area wgvéoa miles away from each tower which will enaldeto realize incremental savings in our
build-out costs as our customer base grows.

Experienced Management Team

We have an experienced executive management teimmaie than 80 years combined experience as compaders. Our President and
Chief Executive Officer, Jeffrey M. Thompson, ifoander of the Company and has more than 20 ye@erience in the data communications
industry. Our Chief Financial Officer, Joseph Rerikbn, has been the chief financial officer foethpublicly traded companies. Our Chief
Revenue Officer, Mel Yarbrough, has more than 2ryexperience leading internal sales organizations Chief Operations Officer, Bruce E.
Grinnell, has more than 20 years of experience avipg operational processes.

Corporate History

We were organized in the State of Nevada in Jufé,28nd subsequently became a public shell comangefined by the Securities and
Exchange Commission. In January 2007, we mergedanitl into a wholly-owned Delaware subsidiary,tf@ sole purpose of changing our state
of incorporation to Delaware. In January 2007, alyhowned subsidiary of ours merged with and iatprivate company, Towerstream
Corporation, with Towerstream Corporation beinggheviving company. Upon closing of the merger,diseontinued our former business and
succeeded to the business of Towerstream Corporasi@ur sole line of business. At the same tineealso changed our name to Towerstream
Corporation and, our subsidiary, Towerstream Cation, changed its name to Towerstream I, Inc.

Regulatory Matters

Wireless broadband services are subject to regulély the Federal Communications Commission (“FC@&t)the federal level, the FCC
has jurisdiction over wireless transmissions oherdlectromagnetic spectrum and all interstatedahenunications services. State regulatory
commissions have jurisdiction over intrastate comitations. Municipalities may regulate limited asigeof our business by, for example,
imposing zoning requirements and requiring installapermits.
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Telecommunications Regulation

Our wireless broadband systems can be used toderdwiernet access service and VPNSs. In a Marci geeision, the FCC classified
wireless broadband Internet access service adenstiate information service that is regulated ufidie | of the Communications Act of 1934, as
amended. Accordingly, most regulations that applietephone companies and other common carrier@tapply to our wireless broadband
Internet access service. For example, we are mogrtly required to contribute a percentage of gm@venues from our Internet access services to
universal service funds used to support local tedee service and advanced telecommunications ssriac schools, libraries and rural health
facilities (“USF Fees”).

We are not required to file tariffs with the FC@{tsg forth the rates, terms, and conditions aflaternet access service. The FCC,
however, is currently considering whether to impeagous consumer protection obligations, simitaiitle 11 obligations, on wireless broadband
Internet access providers. These requirements ntdyde obligations related to truth-in-billing, slening, discontinuing service, customer
proprietary network information and federal uniarservice funds mechanisms. Internet access pmvire currently subject to applicable state
consumer protection laws enforced by each statdtsdey General and general Federal Trade Comnmmissiosumer protection rules.

On August 5, 2005, the FCC adopted an Order finthiag facilities-based broadband Internet accessigers are subject to the
Communications Assistance for Law Enforcement ACRLEA”"), which requires service providers covery that statute to build certain law
enforcement surveillance assistance capabilitisstireir communications networks. The FCC requfeailities-based broadband Internet access
providers to comply with CALEA requirements by Ma#, 2007. We have complied with such CALEA requieais.

On May 3, 2006, the FCC adopted an additional Oaderessing CALEA compliance obligations of thesavglers. In that order, the FC
(i) affirmed the May 14, 2007 compliance deadlifig;indicated compliance standards are to be dmed by the industry within the
telecommunications standards-setting bodies wortdaggther with law enforcement; (iii) permitted tiige of certain third parties to satisfy
CALEA compliance obligations; (iv) restricted theadlability of compliance extensions; (v) concludédt facilities-based broadband Internet
access providers are responsible for any CALEA lbgment and implementation costs; (vi) declared tha FCC may pursue enforcement
action, in addition to remedies available througg ¢ourts, against any non-compliant provider; @iiyladopted interim progress report filing
requirements.

Broadband Internet-related and Internet protocolises regulatory policies are continuing to deyeland it is possible that our broadband
Internet access could be subject to additionalletiguns in the future. The extent of the regulasitimat will ultimately be applicable to these
services and the impact of such regulations oralfiigy of providers to compete are currently unkmo

Soectrum Regulation

The FCC routinely reviews its spectrum policies aray change its position on spectrum allocatioomftime to time. We believe that the
FCC is committed to allocating spectrum to supporéless broadband deployment throughout the Uriiiadles and will continue to modify its
regulations to foster such deployment, which wélghus implement our existing and future busindasg

Internet Taxation

The Internet Tax Freedom Act, which was signed latoin October 2007, extended a moratorium ondaxelnternet access and multiple,
discriminatory taxes on electric commerce. Thisatanium had previously expired in November 200 as with the preceding Internet Tax
Freedom Act, “grandfathered” states that taxettnet access prior to October 1998 to allow therontinue to do so. Certain states have
enacted various taxes on Internet access or efecttommerce, and selected states’ taxes are beingsted on a variety of bases. However, state
tax laws may not be successfully contested, anddwgtate and federal laws imposing taxes or adgarlations on Internet access and electronic
commerce may arise, any of which could increasedis¢ of providing Internet services, which coufdiurn, materially adversely affect our
business.

Employees
As of December 31, 2008, we had 170 employeesf athom are full-time employees. As of February 2809, we had 168 employees, of

whom 166 are full-time employees and 2 are paretamployees. We believe our employee relationgaod. Of such employees, four are
considered members of executive management.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors.

Investing in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. Prospective investors should carefully consider the risks described below and
other information contained in this annual report, including our financial statements and related notes before purchasing shares of our common
stock. There are numerous and varied risks, known and unknown, that may prevent us from achieving our goals. If any of these risks actually
occurs, our business, financial condition or results of operations may be materially adver sely affected. In that case, the trading price of our
common stock could decline and investors in our common stock could lose all or part of their investment.

Risks Relating to Our Business

We may be unable to successfully execute any ofidentified business opportunities or other busisespportunities that we determine to
pursue.

In order to pursue business opportunities, we mgkd to continue to build our infrastructure andragional capabilities. Our ability to do any
of these successfully could be affected by anyarrmaore of the following factors:

. the ability of our equipment, our equipment supglier our service providers to perform as we expect
« the ability of our services to achieve market atzepe;

- our ability to execute our business strategy, witichld be affected by our limited experience inviding fixed, high-speed wireless
broadband service

« our ability to manage our third party relationshgffectively;

« our ability to negotiate acceptable agreementgtore suitable locations for our equipment, suctiesrable rooftop antenna lease
locations;

« our ability to manage the expansion of our openstiand any acquisitions we may make, which cowuddltén increased costs, high
employee turnover or damage to customer relatipss

« our ability to attract and retain qualified persehnvhich may be affected by the significant contpet in our industry for persons
experienced in network operations and enginee

« equipment failure or interruption of service, whibuld adversely affect our reputation and ourtiefes with our customers;

« our ability to accurately predict and respond ® ttépid technological changes in our industry dedetvolving demands of the markets
we serve; an

« our ability to raise substantial additional capttafund our growth.

Our failure to adequately address any one or mbtieecabove factors could have a significant impacour ability to implement our busine
plan and our ability to pursue other opportunitlest arise, which might negatively affect our besia

We depend on the continued availability of leasedicenses for our communications equipment.

We have constructed proprietary networks in eadh@fnarkets we serve by installing antennae oftaps, cellular towers and other
structures pursuant to lease or license agreernteaend and receive wireless signals necessanufonetwork. We typically seek five year initial
terms for our leases with three to five year redapéions. Such renewal options are generally égabde at our discretion before the expiratio
the current term. If these leases are terminatéfitioe owners of these structures are unwillingaatinue to enter into leases or licenses withi
the future, we would be forced to seek alternatirangements with other providers. If we are un&bleontinue to obtain or renew such leases on
satisfactory terms, our business would be harmed.
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Our business depends on a strong brand, and if wendt maintain and enhance our brand, our abilitg &attract and retain customers may
be impaired and our business and operating resuitay be harmed.

We believe that our brand is a critical part of business. Maintaining and enhancing our brand me@yire us to make substantial
investments with no assurance that these investmghtbe successful. If we fail to promote and ntain the “TowerstreamBrand, or if we incu
significant expenses in this effort, our busin@sespects, operating results and financial contlitiay be harmed. We anticipate that maintaining
and enhancing our brand will become increasinglyartant, difficult and expensive.

We may pursue acquisitions that we believe completmair existing operations but which involve riskbat could adversely affect our
business.

Acquisitions involve risks that could adverselyeaff our business, including the diversion of manag# time from operations, and
difficulties integrating the operations and persalrof acquired companies. In addition, any futwequasitions could result in significant costs, the
incurrence of additional debt or the issuance ofitgcgecurities to fund the acquisition, and thsuasption of contingent or undisclosed liabilities,
all of which could materially adversely affect dawrsiness, financial condition and results of openst

In connection with any future acquisition, we gextlgrwill seek to minimize the impact of contingeartd undisclosed liabilities by obtaining
indemnities and warranties from the seller. Howetlezse indemnities and warranties, if obtainedy n@t fully cover the liabilities due to their
limited scope, amount or duration, the financiaditations of the indemnitor or warrantor, or fohet reasons.

We have a history of operating losses and expeadotinue incurring losses for the foreseeable fuéu

Our current business was launched in 1999 andncasred losses in each year of operation. Priautomerger in January 2007, Towerstre
operated as an S corporation. The accumulateditdefithe S corporation as of December 31, 2006 $8813,002. Concurrently with our mer¢
we elected to operate as a C corporation, and tegharnet loss of $8,501,725 in 2007. As of Decer8lte2007, our accumulated deficit was
$8,501,725, which included a recapitalization afiient to eliminate the S corporation deficit. Ir08Dwe recorded a net loss of $13,377,419.
cannot anticipate when, if ever, our operation$ mecome profitable. We expect to incur significaat losses as we expand our sales force,
develop our network, expand our markets, underé@kgiisitions, acquire spectrum and pursue our basistrategy. We intend to invest
significantly in our business before we expect désli from operations to be adequate to cover qarating expenses.

If we are unable to execute our business stratagygeow our business, either as a result of thes lidentified in this section or for any other
reason, our business, prospects, financial comdéia results of operations will be adversely daédc

We have a large cash and cash equivalent position & light of the recent market turmoil among finecial institutions and related
liquidity issues, we may be at risk of being uninsd for a large portion of such assets or havingnihg problems accessing such assets.

The recent market turmoil, including the failureimsolvency of several large financial instituticarsd the credit crunch affecting the short
term debt markets, has caused liquidity problemgdonpanies and institutions across the country.offDecember 31, 2008, we had
approximately $25,000,000 in cash and cash equitaleith one large financial banking institutionttfugh the present regulatory response in
the United States for when a large institution lmees insolvent generally has been to have the dgiifigtitution merge or transfer assets to more
solvent entities, thereby avoiding failures, ip@ssible that any financial institution could be@imsolvent or fail. At times, our cash and cash
equivalents may be uninsured or in deposit accahatsexceed the Federal Deposit Insurance Colipar@DIC”) insurance limits. If the
institution at which we have placed our funds wterbecome insolvent or fail, we could be at risklfising a substantial portion of our cash
deposits, or incur significant time delays in obiag access to such funds. In light of the limigedount of federal insurance for deposits, even if
we were to spread our cash assets among sevdrtitioas, we would remain at risk for the amount novered by insurance.
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The global economic crisis could have a materiahvadse effect on our liquidity and capital resources

The recent distress in the financial markets haslied in extreme volatility in security prices adichinished liquidity and credit
availability, and there can be no assurance thaliquidity will not be affected by changes in theancial markets and the global economy or that
our capital resources will at all times be suffittiéo satisfy our liquidity needs. Although we lee#e that cash provided by operations and our cast
and cash equivalents currently on hand will providevith sufficient liquidity through the currentedit crisis, tightening of the credit markets
could make it more difficult for us to access fundginance our existing debt, enter into agreesértnew debt or obtain funding through the
issuance of our securities.

In addition, the current credit crisis is havingignificant negative impact on businesses arouadvitrld, and the impact of this crisis on
our major suppliers cannot be predicted. The iitstaf key suppliers to access liquidity, or theatvency of key suppliers, could lead to delivery
delays or failures.

Our business may require additional capital for ctimued growth, and our growth may be slowed if we ot have sufficient capital.

The continued growth and operation of our busimeag require additional funding for working capitdébt service, the enhancement and
upgrade of our network, the buitast of infrastructure to expand our coverage, fdssicquisitions, and possible bids to acquire tspatlicenses
In addition, we must use a portion of our cash fidvem operations and other available cash to rpalgenents of principal and interest on our
debt, thereby reducing funds that could be avalét other purposes, such as working capitaletitencement and upgrade of our network, the
build-out of infrastructure to expand our coverage, fdesicquisitions and possible bids to acquire spactticenses. We may be unable to se
such funding when needed in adequate amounts acaeptable terms, if at all. To execute our busiséstegy, we may issue additional equity
securities in public or private offerings, potelifiat a price lower than the market price at theetof such issuance. Similarly, we may seek
additional debt financing, and may be forced tamgignificant interest expense. If we cannot seaufficient funding, we may be forced to
forego strategic opportunities or delay, scale aoliminate network deployments, operations, &itjons, spectrum bids and other investments.

Our debt and restrictive debt covenants could limitr financing options and liquidity position, whitwould limit our ability to grow our
business.

In January 2007, we issued 8% senior convertibbedeires, due December 31, 2009, in an aggregaigpal amount of $3,500,000. On
January 4, 2008, a debenture holder converted 8@6@f senior convertible debentures into commonlksat a conversion price of $2.75 per
share resulting in the issuance of 272,727 shdresromon stock. As of December 31, 2008, $2,750@f(frincipal remains outstanding under
the 8% senior convertible debentures. The ternmipfiebt could have negative consequences to tdersaf our common stock.

Covenants in the securities purchase agreementmjaogeour debentures impose operating and finamekittictions on us. These restrictions
prohibit or limit our ability, and the ability ofur subsidiaries, to, among other things:

« pay cash dividends to our stockholders;
« incur additional debt;
« permit liens on or conduct sales of assets; and
« engage in transactions with affiliates.
These restrictions may limit our ability to obtadditional financing, withstand downturns in ousiness and take advantage of business
opportunities. Moreover, we may seek additionaltdielancing on terms that include more restricboenants, may require repayment on an

accelerated schedule or may impose other obligativat limit our ability to grow our business, atquheeded assets, or take other actions we
might otherwise consider appropriate or desirable.
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Many of our competitors are better established amale resources significantly greater than we hawdich may make it difficult to attract
and retain customers.

The market for broadband and related servicegisiyhicompetitive, and we compete with several otfenpanies within each of our mark
Many of our competitors are well established wittger and better developed networks and suppasimegs longer-standing relationships with
customers and suppliers, greater name recognitidrgeeater financial, technical and marketing resesithan we have. Our competitors may
subsidize competing services with revenue fromrogberces and, thus, may offer their products @&ndicses at prices lower than ours. Our
competitors may also reduce the prices of theirises significantly or may offer broadband connéttipackaged with other products or servic
We may not be able to reduce our prices or otheragnbine our services with other products or sesjiwhich may make it more difficult to
attract and retain customers. In addition, new cetitgers may emerge for our primarily commercial dudiness customer base from businesses
primarily engaged in providing residential servitegonsumers.

We expect existing and prospective competitorsdimpt technologies or business plans similar ts,ar seek other means to develop
services competitive with ours, particularly if @arvices prove to be attractive in our target reerkThis competition may make it difficult to
attract and retain customers.

We may experience difficulties in constructing, uggling and maintaining our network, which could advsely affect customer
satisfaction, increase customer turnover and redum@ revenues

Our success depends on developing and providindupts and services that give customers high quidigrnet connectivity. If the number
of customers using our network and the complexityur products and services increase, we will negmiore infrastructure and network resou
to maintain the quality of our services. Consedyemte may be required to make substantial invests® construct and improve our facilities
and equipment, and to upgrade our technology atwionk infrastructure. If we do not implement thess/elopments successfully, or if we
experience inefficiencies, operational failuresioforeseen costs during implementation, the quefityur products and services could decline.

We may experience quality deficiencies, cost ovesrand delays in implementing our network improvets@nd expansion, in maintenance
and upgrade projects, including the portions os¢hprojects not within our control or the contrbbar contractors. Our network requires the
receipt of permits and approvals from numerous gowental bodies, including municipalities and zanboards. Such bodies often limit the
expansion of transmission towers and other consbruaecessary for our business. Failure to recapgovals in a timely fashion can delay
system rollouts and raise the cost of completirgjgets. In addition, we typically are required tatain rights from land, building or tower owners
to install our antennae and other equipment toigeoservice to our customers. We may not be abbbtain, on terms acceptable to us, or at all,
the rights necessary to construct our network apéed our services.

We also face challenges in managing and operatingetwork. These challenges include operatingntaaiing and upgrading network and
customer premise equipment to accommodate increeaffid or technological advances, and managimgsies, advertising, customer support,
billing and collection functions of our businessiltproviding reliable network service at expecspaeds and quality. Our failure in any of these
areas could adversely affect customer satisfacii@nease customer turnover or churn, increase€asts and decrease our revenues.

If we do not obtain and maintain rights to use linsed spectrum in one or more markets, we may behl@#o operate in these markets
which could negatively impact our ability to exeeubur business strategy. To the extent we securenised spectrum, we face increased
operational costs, greater regulatory scrutiny anthy become subject to arbitrary government decisioaking.

Since we provide our services in some markets bguikensed spectrum, we must secure and maistdfitient rights to use licensed
spectrum by obtaining licenses or long-term le&s¢isose markets. Obtaining licensed spectrum eaa long and difficult process that can be
costly and require a disproportionate amount ofnanagement resources, and may require us to significant debt or secure additional capi
We may not be successful in our efforts to secmanting and may not be deemed a qualified biddertd our small size or our creditworthiness,
or be able to acquire, lease or maintain the spectrecessary to execute our strategy.
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Licensed spectrum, whether owned or leased, pakiamnal risks, including:

« inability to satisfy build-out or service deploymeaquirements upon which spectrum licenses oekase, or may be, conditioned;
« increases in spectrum acquisition costs or comiylexi

. competitive bids, pre-bid qualifications and pbi&t-requirements for spectrum acquisitions, in Wwhiee may not be successful leading
among other things, increased competit

« adverse changes to regulations governing spectghtsy

« the risk that acquired or leased spectrum willmemtommercially usable or free of damaging interiee from licensed or unlicensed
operators in our or adjacent ban

« contractual disputes with, or the bankruptcy oeotteorganization of, the license holders, whichld¢@dversely affect control over the
spectrum subject to such licens

« failure of the FCC or other regulators to renewcspen licenses as they expire; and
« invalidation of authorization to use all or a sfigant portion of our spectrum.

In a number of markets we utilize unlicensed speastr which is subject to intense competition, low kars of entry and slowdowns due to
multiple users.

We presently utilize unlicensed spectrum in conibeavith our service offerings. Unlicensed or “ftepectrum is available to multiple users
and may suffer bandwidth limitations, interfereraem slowdowns if the number of users exceeds ¢raffpacity. The availability of unlicensed
spectrum is not unlimited and others do not neeabtain permits or licenses to utilize the saméceniksed spectrum that we currently or may in
the future utilize, threatening our ability to eddly deliver our services. Moreover, the prevaleofcenlicensed spectrum creates low barriers of
entry in our business, creating the potential fightened competition.

Interruption or failure of our information technol@y and communications systems could impair our éjgito provide services which could
damage our reputation and adversely affect our ogiémg results.

Our services depend on the continuing operatiasuoinformation technology and communications systeWe have experienced service
interruptions in the past and may experience serviterruptions or system failures in the futurayAinscheduled service interruption adversely
affects our ability to operate our business andcdcoesult in an immediate loss of revenues. If wpegience frequent or persistent system or
network failures, our reputation could be permalyemirmed. We may need to make significant cagixglenditures to increase the reliability of
our systems, however, these capital expenditurgsnoiachieve the results we expect.
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Excessive customer churn may adversely affect doafcial performance by slowing customer growth cireasing costs and reducing
revenues.

The successful implementation of our business gégrends upon controlling customer churn. Custormerncis a measure of customers who
stop using our services. Customer churn could aszes a result of:

« billing errors and/or general reduction in the gyadf our customer service;
« interruptions to the delivery of services to custosnover our network;

. the availability of competing technology, such able modems, DSL, third-generation cellular, sielWwireless internet service and
other emerging technologies, some of which mayebe éxpensive or technologically superior to thaffered by us; an

« new competitors entering the markets in which werddervice.
An increase in customer churn can lead to slowstotoer growth, increased costs and a reductioevienues.
If our strategy is unsuccessful, we will not be fiitable and our stockholders could lose their inteeent.

There is no track record for companies pursuingstrategy. Many fixed wireless companies have daglad there is no guarantee that our
strategy will be successful or profitable. If otnasegy is unsuccessful, the value of our compaay decrease and our stockholders could lose
their investment.

We may not be able to effectively control and maeamr growth which would negatively impact our opgions.

If our business and markets continue to grow anelde, it will be necessary for us to finance anghage expansion in an orderly fashion. In
addition, we may face challenges in managing exipgngroduct and service offerings, and in integrgthcquired businesses. Such events would
increase demands on our existing management, weoekénd facilities. Failure to satisfy increasethdads could interrupt or adversely affect
operations and cause backlogs and administratafidgrencies.

The success of our business depends on the contigwiontributions of key personnel and our abilitg &ttract, train and retain highly
qualified personnel.

We are highly dependent on the continued servitesioChairman, Philip Urso, and our President @héef Executive Officer, Jeffrey
M. Thompson. On December 21, 2007, we enteredaiteo-year employment agreement with Jeffrey M.mpson which includes renewal
options. We cannot guarantee that any of thes@pemill stay with us for any definite period. Lasfsthe services of any of these individuals
could adversely impact our operations. We do nahtain policies of “key man” insurance on our exioes.

In addition, we must be able to attract, train, imade and retain highly skilled and experiencedhtécal employees in order to successfully
introduce our services in new markets and growboisiness in existing markets. Qualified technicap®yees often are in great demand and may
be unavailable in the time frame required to spiiefr business requirements. We may not be akdéract and retain sufficient numbers of hig
skilled technical employees in the future. The loktechnical personnel or our inability to hireretain sufficient technical personnel at
competitive rates of compensation could impair atitity to successfully grow our business and retair existing customer base.

Any acquisitions we make could result in integratidifficulties that could lead to substantial costdelays or other operational or financi:
difficulties.

We may seek to expand by acquiring competing beseg including those operating in our currentriess markets or those operating in
other geographic markets. We cannot accuratelyigiréte timing, size and success of our acquisiéffarts and the associated capital
commitments that might be required. We expect tmanter competition for acquisitions which may lithie number of potential acquisition
opportunities and may lead to higher acquisitidngs. We may not be able to identify, acquire afipably manage additional businesses or
successfully integrate acquired businesses, if witiput substantial costs, delays or other openati or financial difficulties.
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In addition, such acquisitions involve a numbeottfer risks, including:
« failure of the acquired businesses to achieve dgpeesults;
« diversion of management’s attention and resou@esquisitions;
. failure to retain key customers or personnel ofabguired businesses;
« disappointing quality or functionality of acquirequipment and personnel; and
« risks associated with unanticipated events, liaddlior contingencies.

Client dissatisfaction with, or performance probseof, a single acquired business could negativié§ctour reputation. The inability to
acquire businesses on reasonable terms or suckhesstegrate and manage acquired companies, ootharrence of performance problems at
acquired companies, could result in dilution, unfable accounting treatment or one-time chargesiéfidulties in successfully managing our
business.

Our inability to obtain capital, internally genetta cash, secure additional debt financing, or useases of our common stock to finance
future acquisitions could impair the growth and eapsion of our business

The extent to which we will be able or willing tseaishares of our common stock to consummate atiqngivill depend on (i) the market
value of our securities which will vary, (ii) ligdity, which is presently limited, and (iii) the Wilgness of potential sellers to accept sharesuof o
common stock as full or partial payment for thaisimess. Using shares of our common stock forphipose may result in significant dilution to
existing stockholders. To the extent that we amblsto use common stock to make future acquigtioar ability to grow through acquisitions
may be limited by the extent to which we are ableaise capital through debt or equity financing® may not be able to obtain the necessary
capital to finance any acquisitions. If we are Uadb obtain additional capital on acceptable tenvesmay be required to reduce the scope of
expansion or redirect resources committed to imlgonrposes. Our failure to use shares of our comsback to make future acquisitions may
hinder our ability to actively pursue our acqusitiprogram.

We rely on a limited number of third party suppligthat manufacture network equipment, and instathié@ maintain our network sites. If
these companies fail to perform or experience dslashortages or increased demand for their produatservices, we may face shortage of
components, increased costs, and may be requiresligpend our network deployment and our product a®ivice introduction.

We depend on a limited number of third party sugpgliio produce and deliver products required fomatworks. We also depend on a lim
number of third parties to install and maintain onatwork facilities. We do not maintain any longnesupply contracts with these manufacturers.
If a manufacturer or other provider does not sgatisfr requirements, or if we lose a manufacturearor other significant provider, we may have
insufficient network equipment for delivery to costers and for installation or maintenance of ofnastructure, and we may be forced to suspend
the deployment of our network and enroliment of mastomers, thus impairing future growth.

If our data security measures are breached, custosmmay perceive our network and services as nousecwhich may adversely affect o
ability to attract and retain customers and expaseto liability.

Network security and the authentication of a custosncredentials are designed to protect unautedraccess to data on our network.
Because techniques used to obtain unauthorizedsata®r to sabotage networks change frequentlyraydnot be recognized until launched
against a target, we may be unable to anticipatmplement adequate preventive measures againgthorized access or sabotage. Conseque
unauthorized parties may overcome our encryptighsaeurity systems, and obtain access to dataonetwork, including on a device connected
to our network. In addition, because we operatecamdrol our network and our customers’ Internetreectivity, unauthorized access or sabotage
of our network could result in damage to our netwammd to the computers or other devices used bgwstomers. An actual or perceived breach
of network security, regardless of whether the tida our fault, could harm public perception aof gffectiveness of our security measures,
adversely affect our ability to attract and retairstomers, expose us to significant liability adséexrsely affect our business prospects.
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In providing our services we could infringe on thetellectual property rights of others, which mayuase us to engage in costly litigation
and, if we do not prevail, could also cause us fysubstantial damages and prohibit us from selliogr services.

Third parties may assert infringement or otherlietéual property claims against us. We may havesatp substantial damages, including
damages for past infringement if it is ultimatebtermined that our services infringe a third paryroprietary rights. Further, we may be
prohibited from selling or providing some of oungees before we obtain additional licenses, whithyailable at all, may require us to pay
substantial royalties or licensing fees. Evenairols are without merit, defending a lawsuit takgaificant time, may be expensive and may di
management’s attention from our other businessearmsc Any public announcements related to litigatio interference proceedings initiated or
threatened against us could cause our businessharmed and our stock price to decline.

Risks Relating to Our Industry

An economic or industry slowdown may materially andversely affect our business.

Slowdowns in the economy or in the wireless or baad industry may impact demand for wireless oatiband services, thereby reducing
demand for our services, or negatively impact othesinesses or industries, thereby reducing derftaralir services by causing others to dela
abandon implementation of new systems and techrespimcluding wireless broadband services. Furttierwar on terrorism, the threat of
additional terrorist attacks, the political and eomic uncertainties resulting therefrom and oth@breseen events may impose additional risks
upon and adversely affect the wireless or broadlirashastry, and our business.

The industry in which we operate is continually dving which makes it difficult to evaluate our fute prospects and increases the risk of
an investment in our securities. Our services macbme obsolete and we may not be able to develoypettive products or services on a
timely basis or at all.

The broadband and wireless services industriesteacterized by rapid technological change, coitiyepricing, frequent new service
introductions, and evolving industry standards maglilatory requirements. We believe that our sucdepends on our ability to anticipate and
adapt to these challenges and to offer compesgreices on a timely basis. We face a number @itdlifies and uncertainties associated with our
reliance on technological development, such as:

« competition from service providers using more ttiadial and commercially proven means to deliverilsinor alternative services;

« competition from new service providers using mdfiient, less expensive technologies, includingdarcts not yet invented or
developed

« uncertain customer acceptance;

« realizing economies of scale;

« responding successfully to advances in competicigni@logies in a timely and cost-effective manner;
« migration toward standards-based technology, regusubstantial capital expenditures; and

« existing, proposed or undeveloped technologiesrttegt render our wireless broadband services |lefgalle or obsolete.
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As the services offered by us and our competitexebbp, businesses and consumers may not accepeices as a commercially viable
alternative to other means of delivering wirelessaldband services. As a result, our services megrhe obsolete and we may be unable to
develop competitive products or services on a trbakis, or at all.

We are subject to extensive regulation that coukdit or restrict our activities. If we fail to comly with these regulations, we may be
subject to penalties, including fines and suspenmspand past due fees and interest which may adsigraffect our financial condition anc
results of operations.

Our business, including the acquisition, lease nteaiance, and use of spectrum licenses, is extdpsiegulated by federal, state and local
governmental authorities. A number of federal,estatd local privacy, security, and consumer laws apply to our business. These regulations
and their application are subject to continual deaas new legislation, regulations or amendmengsisiing regulations are adopted from time to
time by governmental or regulatory authorities]uding as a result of judicial interpretations otk laws and regulations. Current regulations
directly affect the breadth of services we are ébleffer and may impact the rates, terms and d¢mmdi of our services. Regulation of companies
that offer competing services such as cable and @8iiders, and telecommunications carriers aléectf our business.

We believe that we are not required to registeh it Universal Service Administrative Company (AL3) as a seller of
telecommunications, nor are we required to col#8F Fees from our customers or to pay USF Feesthjirdt is possible, however, that the FCC
may assert that we are a seller of telecommunitsitmd that we are required to register and pay &85 on some or all of our gross revenues.
Although we would contest any such assertion, wedcbecome obligated to pay USF Fees, interespendilties to USAC with respect to our
gross revenues, past and/or future, from provithecommunications services, and we may be unabiettoactively bill our customers for past
USF Fees.

In addition, the FCC or other regulatory authositieay in the future restrict our ability to managstomers’ use of our network, thereby
limiting our ability to prevent or address custosi@xcessive bandwidth demands. To maintain théditgud our network and user experience, we
may manage the bandwidth used by our customerdicaipns, in part by restricting the types of d@palions that may be used over our network.
If the FCC or other regulatory authorities werattopt regulations that constrain our ability to @ygandwidth management practices, exces
use of bandwidth-intensive applications would likegduce the quality of our services for all custéosn Such decline in the quality of our services
could harm our business.

The breach of a license or applicable law, evémaflvertent, can result in the revocation, susgensiancellation or reduction in the term ¢
license or the imposition of fines. In additionguéatory authorities may grant new licenses tadtipiarties, resulting in greater competition in
territories where we already have rights to licehsgectrum. In order to promote competition, li@nmay also require that third parties be
granted access to our bandwidth, frequency capdaitilities or services. We may not be able taagbbr retain any required license, and we may
not be able to renew a license on favorable teomat all.

Wireless broadband services may become subjecetiay state or federal regulation in the fututee $cope of the regulations that may a
to companies like us and the impact of such regulaton our competitive position are presently wwn and could be detrimental to our busir
and prospects.

Risks Relating to Our Organization

Our certificate of incorporation allows for our baa to create new series of preferred stock with@utther approval by our stockholders
which could adversely affect the rights of the held of our common stock.

Our board of directors has the authority to fix aledermine the relative rights and preferencegefiepred stock. Our board of directors also
has the authority to issue preferred stock witlfotther stockholder approval. As a result, our baafrdirectors could authorize the issuance of a
series of preferred stock that would grant to hadke preferred right to our assets upon liquadatthe right to receive dividend payments before
dividends are distributed to the holders of commimtk and the right to the redemption of the shdoggther with a premium, prior to the
redemption of our common stock. In addition, ouardabof directors could authorize the issuance sdrées of preferred stock that has greater
voting power than our common stock or that is cotilvie into our common stock, which could decreteerelative voting power of our common
stock or result in dilution to our existing stochdhers.
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Our officers and directors own a substantial amouaft our common stock and, therefore, exercise sfgrant control over our corporate
governance and affairs which may result in theirkiemg actions with which other shareholders do nogre.

Our executive officers and directors, and entiéiffsiated with them, control approximately 25%air outstanding common stock (including
exercisable stock options held by them). Thesee$lwdders, if they act together, may be able to@gersubstantial influence over the outcome of
all corporate actions requiring approval of ourrehalders, including the election of directors apgroval of significant corporate transactions,
which may result in corporate action with whicheatishareholders do not agree. This concentrati@wakrship may also have the effect of
delaying or preventing a change in control whiclgimibe in other shareholders’ best interest butkvhiight negatively affect the market price of
our common stock.

We are subject to financial reporting and other regements for which our accounting, internal audand other management systems and
resources may not be adequately prepared.

On January 12, 2007, we became subject to repaatidgpther obligations under the Securities Exchaig of 1934, as amended, including
the requirements of Section 404 of the SarbanesyOxtt. Section 404 requires us to conduct an drmaaagement assessment of the
effectiveness of our internal controls over finahceporting for the fiscal year ended December2®D,7 and thereafter, and to obtain a report by
our independent auditors addressing these assetssfoethe fiscal year ending December 31, 2009thackafter. These reporting and other
obligations will place significant demands on ouamagement, administrative, operational, internditaand accounting resources. We anticipate
that we may need to (i) upgrade our systems,niplément additional financial and management ctsitreporting systems and procedures, (iii)
implement an internal audit function, and (iv) hamditional accounting, internal audit and finastaf. If we are unable to accomplish these
objectives in a timely and effective fashion, obility to comply with our financial reporting reqeiments and other rules that apply to reporting
companies could be impaired. Any failure to maim&fifective internal controls could have a negatimpact on our ability to manage our busir
and on our stock price.

Risks Relating to Our Common Stock
We may fail to qualify for continued listing on NABAQ which could make it more difficult for investarto sell their shares.

In May 2007, our common stock was approved foinlgsbn The NASDAQ Capital Market and our commorcktoontinues to be listed on
the Capital Market. There can be no assurancertiding of our common stock on such market wilshstained or that we can meet NASDAQ'’s
continued listing standards. In the event thatammmon stock fails to qualify for continued incloisj our common stock could thereafter only be
guoted on the OTC Bulletin Board which is commomdferred to as the “pink sheets.” Under such cistamces, shareholders may find it more
difficult to dispose of, or to obtain accurate qatains, for our common stock, and our common steclld become substantially less attractive to
certain purchasers such as financial institutiblesige funds and other similar investors.

Our common stock may be affected by limited tradivgume and price fluctuations, each of which couddiversely impact the value of our
common stock.

There has been limited trading in our common stk there can be no assurance that an active gratinket in our common stock will
either develop or be maintained. Our common sta@skdxperienced, and is likely to experience irftiere, significant price and volume
fluctuations, which could adversely affect the neinrice of our common stock without regard to operating performance. In addition, we
believe that factors such as quarterly fluctuationsur financial results and changes in the ov@@dnomy or the condition of the financial
markets could cause the price of our common stodkittuate substantially. These fluctuations misp @ause short sellers to periodically enter
the market in the belief that we will have poorulesin the future. We cannot predict the actiohmarket participants and, therefore, can offer no
assurances that the market for our stock will bblstor appreciate over time.

We have not paid dividends in the past and do nqtect to pay dividends in the future. Any return @m investment in our common stock
may be limited to the value of the stock.

We have never paid cash dividends on our commark stod do not anticipate doing so in the foreseeflilire. The payment of dividends
our common stock will depend on our earnings, fai@ncondition and other business and economiofaas our board of directors may consider
relevant. If we do not pay dividends, our commarctktmay be less valuable because a return on atstider’s investment will only occur if our
stock price appreciates.
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Although the NASDAQ Capital Market has temporariguspended its continued listing requirement of ammum bid price, we could be
risk of a delisting in the future.

Under the rules of the NASDAQ Capital Market, westmaintain a minimum bid price of $1.00 for ounmoon stock. If a company's stock
trades for 30 consecutive business days below@$ninimum closing bid price requirement, NASDAGI send a deficiency notice to the
company, advising that it has been granted a "ciamqé period” of 180 calendar days to regain coamgk with the applicable requirements.
Given the current extraordinary market conditidddSDAQ has suspended the bid price and market walgeirements through Monday, April
20, 2009 for all of its listed companies.

Our stock price as of December 31, 2008 had argigsiice of $0.69 per share. As of March 13, 2@28,stock price had a closing price of
$0.81. Although the $1.00 minimum bid rule hasrbeamporarily suspended, it is possible that wddoeceive notice of possible delisting if our
stock trades at less than $1.00 when the rulansteged. If we receive a delisting notice andwarable to increase our stock price above $1.0C
shares could be delisted from trading on the NASD@dpital Market.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

Not applicable.
Item 2. Properties.

Our executive offices are currently located in M&tdwn, Rhode Island, where we lease approximat2|§37 square feet of space, consis
of a 17,137 square feet building at 55 Hammarluray\Wér our administrative, engineering, informattechnology and customer care offices and
a 25,000 square feet building at 88 Silva Laneoforsales call center. Our annual rent paymendésetapproximately $527,000 in 2008 and will
remain at that level through February 2010, befioceeasing to approximately $558,000 through Ma¥2@nd approximately $590,000 through
the end of the lease. Our lease expires on Octhl#913 with an option to renew for an additiona¢fyear term. We do not own any real
property.
Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

There are no legal proceedings pending, and waaraware of any proceeding contemplated by a gowental authority, to which we are a
party or any of our property is subject.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Securityolders.
No matter was submitted during the fourth quarfehe fiscal year ended December 31, 2008 to a ebsecurity holders through the

solicitation of proxies or otherwise.
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PART Il
Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Edty Securities.
Market Information

Our common stock was quoted on the OTC BulletinrBdeom January 12, 2007 through May 30, 2007 urigersymbol TWER.OB. Since
May 31, 2007, our common stock has been listedienNASDAQ Capital Market under the symbol TWER oPto January 12, 2007, there was
no active market for our common stock. The follogvtable sets forth the high and low bid pricesdior common stock for the periods indicated,
as reported by the OTC Bulletin Board, and the laigtl low sales prices as reported on The NASDAQt&ladarket. The quotations reflect inter-
dealer prices, without retail mark-up, mark-dowrcommission, and may not represent actual trarsesti

FISCAL YEAR 2008 HIGH LOW

First Quartel $ 3.6 $ 1.01
Second Quarte $ 15¢ % 1.07
Third Quartel $ 184 % 0.87
Fourth Quarte $ 1.1C % 0.5:2
FISCAL YEAR 2007 HIGH LOW

January 12, 2007 to March 31, 2C $ 11.0C $ 0.6¢€
April 1, 2007 to May 30, 200 $ 772 $ 6.6(
May 31, 2007 to June 30, 20 $ 775 $ 3.31
Third Quartel $ 3.8 $ 2.3¢
Fourth Quarte $ 320 $ 1.8¢

The last reported sales price of our common stockie NASDAQ Capital Market on December 31, 2008 $@.69 and on March 13, 2009,
the last reported sales price was $0.81. Accortlirte records of our transfer agent, as of MaH009, there were approximately 63 holdel
record of our common stock.

Dividend Policy
We have never declared or paid cash dividends oea@uamon stock, and we do not intend to pay an dagdends on our common stock in

the foreseeable future. Rather, we expect to rétime earnings (if any) to fund the operation argansion of our business and for general
corporate purposes. In addition, our agreements @abenture holders and other investors restriftoms paying any cash dividends.
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Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Corpensation Plans

As of December 31, 2008, securities issued andrisiesuavailable for future issuance under our 28@8-Employee Directors Compensation
Plan, our 2007 Equity Compensation Plan and ou? 20€entive Stock Plan were as follows:

Equity Compensation Plan Information
Number of securities to be

issued upon exercise of Weighted average exerci Number of securities remaining
outstanding options, warrai  price of outstanding available for future issuance

and rights options, warrants and rigl under equity compensation pli
Equity compensation plans approved
by security holder 3,335,79: $ 1.82 2,513,32,
Equity compensation plans not approved by securi
holders - - -
Total 3,335,79: $ 1.82 2,513,32.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
None.
Item 6. Selected Financial Data.
Not applicable.
Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Famcial Condition and Results of Operations.

Prior to January 12, 2007, we were a public stwthgany, as defined by the Securities and Exchangen@ission (“SEC”), without material
assets or activities. On January 12, 2007, we cetegla reverse merger (the “Merger”), pursuanthkva wholly-owned subsidiary of ours
merged with and into a private company, Towerstr€uorporation, with such private company being theising company. In connection with
the Merger, we discontinued our former businesscamdmenced operating the business of Towerstreamrasole line of business. The former
private company, our subsidiary, changed its nanleotverstream I, Inc. For financial reporting pesps, Towerstream, and not the public shell
company, is considered the acquiror. All cost®eissed with the Merger (other than financing reatosts in connection with the simultaneous
sale of $3,500,000 of 8% senior convertible delrstdue 2009 and warrants, and approximately $01080 of units consisting of common
stock and warrants) were expensed as incurred.

Overview

We provide fixed wireless broadband services toroencial customers based on a monthly recurringmaeenodel. We provide customers
high speed Internet access over a fixed wirelesgark transmitting over both regulated and unregpdaadio spectrum. Our service supports
bandwidth on demand, wireless redundancy, virtaabpe networks (“VPNs”), disaster recovery, burtiata and video services. We provide
service to approximately 1,400 business custonmeeiwv York City, Boston, Chicago, Los Angeles, Faancisco, Seattle, Miami, Dallas-Fort
Worth, Providence and Newport, Rhode Island.

Characteristics of our Revenues and Expenses

We offer our services under agreements having tefrose, two or three years. Pursuant to thesesaggats, we bill customers on a monthly
basis, in advance, for each month of service. Patgireceived in advance of services performedemerded as deferred revenues.

Costs of revenues consists of expenses that aetlglirelated to providing services to our custosnercluding the costs to establish points of
presence in new markets, and to strengthen or expamnpresence in existing markets. These costsde bandwidth purchases, tower and roof
rent and utilities, site work visits, equipment pag and network supplies (collectively “Network €pting Expenses”). Our gross margins can
fluctuate from period to period due to the timirfgrndien we add network capacity to existing marketexpand into new markets. This variabi
in gross margin occurs, in part, because we angnextjto incur these costs prior to generating nastomer revenues.
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Sales and marketing expenses primarily considt@talaries, benefits, travel and other costs pfales and marketing teams, as well as
marketing initiatives and business development eges.

Customer support services includes salaries aaterkepayroll costs associated with our customepaservices, customer care, and
installation and operations staff.

General and administrative expenses include casiisidable to corporate overhead and the ovetadpsrt of our operations. Salaries and
other related payroll costs for executive managénigrmnce, administration and information systgrassonnel are included in this
category. Other costs include rent, utilities atfter facilities costs, accounting, legal and ofireifessional services, and other general operating
expenses.

Year Ended December 31, 2008 Compared to Year Endézecember 31, 2007

Revenues. Revenues for the year ended December 31, @@@@d $10,656,081 compared to $6,883,343 foyéae ended December
31, 2007, representing an increase of $3,772,#385%. This increase was driven by a 51% increaseii customer base during 2008.

Sequential growth for the year ended December @18 2vas 55% compared to 9% for the year ended Dieee81, 2007. The higher
sequential growth during 2008 was driven by a 5@étaase in customers and a 13% increase in moanieliage revenue per user
(“ARPU"). ARPU as of December 31, 2008 totaled $82mpared to $730 as of December 31, 2007, reptiagean increase of $98, or
13%. This increase was primarily related to higledmtive sales of our midrange service offeringolihis priced at $999 per month. Customer
churn, calculated as a percent of revenue lostraorahly basis from customers terminating servioigled 1.24% for the year ended December
31, 2008 compared to 1.60% for the year ended DeeeB1, 2007, representing a 23% decrease on arjage basis. During 2008, we invested
approximately $3,773,000 to strengthen our netvimekxisting markets and establish a network presémoew markets. In addition, we added
personnel in our customer care and engineeringrtiepats. These efforts resulted in higher levélsustomer satisfaction and reduced churn.

Cost of Revenues.  Cost of revenues for the year ended Decemhe2(BIB totaled $4,076,100 compared to $2,469,068h&year ended
December 31, 2007, representing an increase 00$,085, or 65%. The dollar increase was consistéhtthe growth in revenues. Gross
margins decreased to 62% during 2008 compared%odi#ing 2007. We launched service in Miami atehd of the first quarter of 2007 and in
Dallas-Fort Worth in the second quarter of 200&eGhe past twelve months, we have also expandedresence in existing markets including
Chicago, Los Angeles, New York and San Francistuese activities increased Network Operating Exestry approximately $1,276,000 in
2008 compared to 2007. In addition, network pemgbnosts increased by approximately $331,000 diianal employees were hired to support
our continued growth and expansion.

Depreciation.  Depreciation for the year ended December 3@826taled $3,222,716 compared to $1,879,515 foytar ended December
31, 2007, representing an increase of $1,343,2001%. This increase was primarily related to thetimued investment in our network, base
station and customer premise equipment (collegtjvair “Network™) which was required to support ip@wth in our customer base and our
expansion into new markets. Gross fixed assdieaeémber 31, 2008 totaled $21,805,582 compared4B8$9,212 at December 31, 2007,
representing an increase of $7,496,370, or 52%.

Customer Support Services.  Customer support services for the year endexdbber 31, 2008 totaled $1,820,101 compared to,$83Xor
the year ended December 31, 2007, representingcagaise of $888,316, or 95%. This increase wasgpifinrelated to the costs of additional
personnel hired to support our growing customeebasverage headcount increased from 23 to 350820

Salesand Marketing. Sales and marketing expenses for the year endeehiier 31, 2008 totaled $7,692,268 compared to 831384 for the
year ended December 31, 2007, representing araseef $4,104,157, or 114%. Approximately $3,640,@0 89%, related to higher payroll
costs associated with the expansion of our salésremketing team, which includes direct sales,sssigport and marketing personnel. The
average number of personnel totaled 123 in 200&eoed to 54 in 2007. Approximately $430,000, o¥10f the increase related to higher
advertising expenses, primarily related to intebsted advertising programs.
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General and Administrative.  General and administrative expenses for the gieded December 31, 2008 totaled $7,208,801 cadpar
$6,827,036 for the year ended December 31, 20@7resenting an increase of $381,765, or 6%. Pagoslis in 2008 increased by approximately
$700,000 related to higher employee headcount.t &=hutilities increased by approximately $313,88@&dditional space was leased due to the
increase in headcount which also caused an incedaggpproximately $158,000 in software user fees @wproximately $247,000 in other
employee based expenses. Insurance costs incliepsgproximately $78,000. These increases wdsetdfy a decrease in stock-based
compensation of approximately $146,000 in 200&fdasional services fees decreased by approxim$®1§,000 in 2008 compared to 2007
which included the extensive use of third partyisehs related to the Merger and financing traneastcompleted during 2007.

Interest Income. Interest income for the year ended December 313 2f¥@led $578,373 compared to $1,460,825 for #ee gnded
December 31, 2007, representing a decrease of 4882r 60%. In March 2008, we transferred our dzdhnces into four separate U.S. Trea
based money market funds. These funds have lowieisybut are higher quality instruments than thedé in which we previously
invested. Cash balances decreased from appralin®t1,000,000 to approximately $25,000,000 dugi@6§8. We used approximately
$7,873,000 to support operating activities and exiprately $7,684,000 to acquire property and eqeiptnprimarily related to our Network.

Interest Expense.  Interest expense for the year ended Decemhe2(8B totaled $509,593 compared to $974,774 foydar ended
December 31, 2007, representing a decrease of BBI65r 48%. The decrease was attributable toioentm-recurring transactions related to our
Merger in January 2007. During 2007, we agreezbtivert certain notes payable into common stoekdiscounted rate. We recognized
approximately $314,000 of non-cash interest expaegeesenting the discounted amount, in conneetitimthis transaction. In addition, we
recognized non-cash interest expense of approxiynd#®,000 in connection with an agreement to iaseethe outstanding balance of certain
promissory notes by the same amount. These promgisstes were subsequently converted into comrtaoks$n connection with the Merger.

Other Expense, Net.  Other expense, net for the year ended Decenih&0®8 totaled $82,294 compared to $175,607 ®ytar ended
December 31, 2007, representing a decrease of B83853%. In April 2007, we entered into a twaiyservices agreement with a third party
monitoring firm to help us comply with the Commuations Assistance for Law Enforcement Act (“CALEA")n the fourth quarter of 2008, we
terminated the contract and entered into a neweageat with another third party that was more cesidficial. We recognized an expense of
$56,365 representing the net book value of equipregpitalized under the original agreement thaiisonger being used. In 2007, we recogn
a charge of approximately $150,000 for failing &t g registration statement declared effective bgréain date.

Net Loss. Net loss for the year ended December 31, 20@8ed $13,377,419 compared to $8,501,725 for #ae gnded December
31, 2007, representing an increase of $4,875,69%8/%. Approximately $4,104,000, or 84%, of therease related to higher sales and
marketing expenses primarily associated with theaegion of our sales and marketing team. Theageenumber of sales and marketing
personnel totaled 123 in 2008 compared to 54 irv200

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We have historically met our liquidity and capitafuirements primarily through the public sale pridate placement of equity securities and
debt financing. Cash and cash equivalents tota?dd780,268 and $40,756,865 at December 31, 200®andmber 31, 2007, respectively. The
decrease in cash and cash equivalents related tapeuating, investing and financing activitiesidgrthe year ended December 31, 2008, each of
which is described below. At February 28, 2009 had cash and cash equivalents totaling approxim&g®,500,000.

Net Cash Used in Operating Activities.  Net cash used in operating activities for tearyended December 31, 2008 totaled $7,873,237
compared to $3,973,760 for the year ended DeceBhe2007, representing an increase of $3,899,4798%. This increase was primarily due to
higher payroll and related costs associated witheimsed headcount across all areas of operatiass,significantly in sales and marketing.

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities.  Net cash used in investing activities for tiearyended December 31, 2008 totaled $8,095,870
compared to $6,895,114 for the year ended DeceBhe2007, representing an increase of $1,200,456/%. Acquisitions of property and
equipment represented $973,938, or 81%, of the&sa. This increase related to both our expamsiomew markets as well as the strengthe
of our Network in existing markets. We entered Miami market in March 2007 and the Dallas-Forrthf market in April 2008 and incurred
higher capital expenditures in 2008 for both osthaeew markets. Our Network includes equipmersatixt on buildings at the customer location
(commonly known as customer premise equipment (“QREs well as on buildings in which we maintainimts of presence (“POPs”), which are
used to transmit data to multiple customers. @gtamer count increased from approximately 90(pfr@ximately 1,350 in 2008. Spending on
CPE totaled approximately $2,996,000 and spending®@Ps totaled approximately $3,773,000 during 2068ddition, we used $400,000 to
purchase FCC licenses in 2008 compared to $125%;02007.
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Net Cash Used in/Provided by Financing Activities. Net cash used in financing activities for tharyended December 31, 2008 totaled
$47,490 compared to net cash provided by finanattiyities of $51,465,376 for the year ended Decam®i, 2007, representing a decrease of
$51,512,866 or 100%. The decrease is directlyedltd financing transactions completed in 2007uditlg two equity transactions which raised
net proceeds of $48,251,237 and a debt financamséction which raised $3,360,000. No financiaggactions were completed in 2008.

Working Capital.  As of December 31, 2008, we had working capits19,412,428 Based on our current operating activities andglave
believe our existing working capital will enable tasmeet our anticipated cash requirements faeagtithe next twelve months.

Private Placement

In connection with the Merger in January 2007, wmpleted a private placement pursuant to whichssedd 5,110,056 shares of common
stock at a price of $2.25 per share and five-yemaramts to purchase 2,555,030 shares of commoh at@n exercise price of $4.50 per share
resulting in aggregate gross proceeds of $11,497)6Zonnection with this transaction, we incurpdalcement agent fees of approximately
$446,400, and issued to the placement agent eyéaewarrant to purchase an aggregate of 140,94 slof common stock at an exercise pric
$4.50 per share. In addition, we incurred othefgasional fees and expenses totaling approxim&tE,000 in connection with the Merger and
private placement.

Senior Convertible Debentures

In conjunction with our Merger in January 2007, also sold $3,500,000 of senior convertible deb@stuifhese debentures require quarterly
interest payments of 8% per annum and mature oereer 31, 2009. The debentures are convertiblesimioes of common stock at a conver:
price of $2.75 per share, subject to certain litiotes. In addition, holders of the debentures nesetifiveyear warrants to purchase an aggrega
636,364 shares of common stock at an exercise pfi$d.00 per share and five-year warrants to pagelan aggregate of 636,364 shares of
common stock at an exercise price of $6.00 pereshar

In connection with the issuance of the debentwresincurred placement agent fees totaling approtam&140,000, and issued to the
placement agent a five-year warrant to purchasg363shares of common stock at an exercise priéd .80 per share. This warrant had an
estimated fair value of $34,750.

In January 2008, a debenture holder converted $8BMmf debentures into common stock at a conversime of $2.75 per share resulting in
the issuance of 272,727 shares of common stock. c@trying value of the debentures on the dateetbnversion was $676,607. Accordingly,
we recognized the remaining debt discount of $78389non-cash interest expense in connection hiltonversion. The principal amount of
debentures outstanding as of December 31, 200@ddo$2,750,000.

Registered Offering

In June 2007, we issued 10,000,000 shares of constock in connection with a registered direct affgrat $4.00 per share, resulting in
gross proceeds of $40,000,000. In connection wighrégistered offering, we incurred placement afgad of $2,800,000 and issued to the
placement agents five-year warrants to purchas@80Ghares of common stock at an exercise prig&d.060 per share.

Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of financial statements in conféymiith accounting principles generally acceptethia United States of America requires
management to make estimates and assumptiondfinettthe reported amounts of assets and liakslitiee disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statemetsd the reported amounts of revenues and expdnseg the reporting period. Critical accounting
policies are those that require the applicatiomahagement’s most difficult, subjective or comglekgments, often because of the need to make
estimates about the effect of matters that arerémtly uncertain and that may change in subsecquemiids. In preparing the financial statements,
we utilized available information, including ourgbdnistory, industry standards and the current esin environment, among other factors, in
forming our estimates and judgments, giving duesi®ration to materiality. Actual results may diffom these estimates. In addition, other
companies may utilize different estimates, whictyimapact the comparability of our results of op&nas to other companies in our industry. We
believe that of our significant accounting policig® following may involve a higher degree of jutkent and estimation.
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Revenue Recognition.  We normally enter into contractual agreemerite wur customers for periods ranging between ortaree
years. We recognize the total revenue provide@&uadontract ratably over the contract perioduitiog any periods under which we have
agreed to provide services at no cost. Deferreemees are recognized as a liability when billiagsreceived in advance of the date when
revenues are earned. We apply the revenue re@mgpitnciples set forth under SEC Staff Accountiigletin 104, (“SAB 104”") which provides
for revenue to be recognized when (i) persuasiveeece of an arrangement exists, (i) deliverynstallation has been completed, (iii) the
customer accepts and verifies receipt, and (iMectbility is reasonably assured.

Long-Lived Assets. Long-lived assets consist primarily of property aggiipment, and FCC licenses. Long-lived assetseatewed annually
for impairment or whenever events or circumstarigégate their carrying value may not be recovezallonditions that would result in an
impairment charge include a significant declinéhi@ market value of an asset, a significant chamgige extent or manner in which an asset is
used, or a significant adverse change that wouitdte that the carrying amount of an asset orguafassets is not recoverable. When such
events or circumstances arise, an estimate ofutieef undiscounted cash flows produced by the ass#ie appropriate grouping of assets, is
compared to the asset’s carrying value to deterihingpairment exists pursuant to the requiremeaftStatement of Financial Accounting
Standards (“SFAS”) No. 144, “Accounting for the laipnent or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets”. If thesat is determined to be impaired, the
impairment loss is measured based on the excetssazfrrying value over its fair value. Assets &disposed of are reported at the lower of their
carrying value or net realizable value.

Asset Retirement Obligations. SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retiremenfli@ations,” (“FAS 143”) addresses financial acctiog
and reporting for obligations associated with tsgrement of tangible lonfived assets and the associated asset retiremstst d6AS 143 requir
the recognition of an asset retirement obligatiod an associated asset retirement cost when tharkegal obligation in connection with the
retirement of tangible long-lived assets. Our mekwequipment is installed on both buildings in ethive have a lease agreement (“Company
Locations”) and at customer locations. In bothanses, the installation and removal of our equipnieenot complicated and does not require
structural changes to the building where the eqeiptris installed. Costs associated with the rerofvaur equipment at company or customer
locations are not material, and accordingly, weehdetermined that we do not presently have asSetment obligations under FAS 143.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements.  We have no ofbalance sheet arrangements, financings, or otlatiareships with unconsolidated entiti
known as “Special Purposes Entities”.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2006, the Financial Accounting StesslBoard (“FASB”) issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair ValMeasurements”, (“FAS 157")
which is effective for fiscal years beginning afidosvember 15, 2007 and for interim periods witlinge years. This statement defines fair value,
establishes a framework for measuring fair valug expands the related disclosure requirements.staiement applies under other accounting
pronouncements that require or permit fair valuesneements. The statement indicates, among dtimgst that a fair value measurement
assumes that the transaction to sell an assedrmsfér a liability occurs in the principal market the asset or liability or, in the absence of a
principal market, the most advantageous marketh®iasset or liability. FAS 157 defines fair vahased upon an exit price model. Relative to
FAS 157, the FASB issued FASB Staff Positions (“BB7-1, FSP 157-2, and proposed FSP 157-c. FB3Pllamends FAS 157 to exclude
SFAS No. 13, “Accounting for Leases”, (“FAS 13")dhits related interpretive accounting pronouncemémdt address leasing transactions, while
FSP 157-2 delays the effective date of FAS 15&aflanonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabiitiexcept those that are recognized or disclosed
at fair value in the financial statements on a neog basis. FSP 157-c clarifies the principle§&S 157 on the fair value measurement of
liabilities. We adopted FAS 157 as of JanuaryQD& with the exception of the application of tite@ement to nonrecurring nonfinancial assets
and nonfinancial liabilities. While we are curdgrgvaluating the impact of the application of 8tatement to nonrecurring nonfinancial assets
nonfinancial liabilities on our consolidated fingcstatements upon adoption, we do not anticipateaterial impact on our consolidated financial
position and results of operations.
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In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159¢“Fhir Value Option for Financial Assets and Finalnciabilities -including an
amendment of FASB Statement No. 115", (“FAS 159%ieh permits entities to choose to measure mamnfiial instruments and certain other
items at fair value. The fair value option perngitgities to choose to measure eligible items atv@ue at specified election dates. A business
entity shall report unrealized gains and losse#ems for which the fair value option has been teldén earnings at each subsequent reporting
date. Adoption is required for fiscal years begmgnafter November 15, 2007. We adopted FAS 15%anaky 1, 2008, but elected not to apply
the fair value option to any of our eligible finaalcassets or liabilities at that date. Thereftine, provisions of FAS 159 had no impact on
our consolidated financial position and resultspérations for the year ended December 31, 2008.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 14I)siness Combinations”, (“FAS 141(R)”) which req#as SFAS No. 141, “Business
Combinations”. FAS 141(R) establishes principled eequirements for determining how an enterpes®gnizes and measures the fair value of
certain assets and liabilities acquired in a bussirmmbination, including noncontrolling interesisntingent consideration and certain acquired
contingencies. FAS 141(R) also requires that adipisrelated transaction expenses and restrugwasts be expensed as incurred rather than
capitalized as a component of the business combmaFAS 141(R) will be applicable prospectiveginning January 1, 2009.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160nddatrolling Interests in Consolidated Financiat8ments, an Amendment of ARB
No. 51", “FAS 160"). FAS 160 establishes accounting and reporting stdsdar the noncontrolling interest in a subsidigrgeviously referred t
as minority interests). FAS 160 also requires ¢haedtained noncontrolling interest upon the declithastion of a subsidiary be initially measured at
its fair value. Upon adoption of FAS 160, we widl bequired to report any noncontrolling interesta@eparate component of consolidated
stockholders’ equity. We will also be required tegent any net income allocable to noncontrollirtgriests and net income attributable to our
stockholders separately in our consolidated statésra operations. FAS 160 is effective prospectively bagig January 1, 2009.

In May 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 162, “Therbtiehy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principle{"FAS 162"). FAS 162
identifies the sources of accounting principles tedframework for selecting the principles to Isediin the preparation of financial statements of
nongovernmental entities that are presented inozorify with United States Generally Accepted Accing Principles (“GAAP”). FAS 162
directs the GAAP hierarchy to the entity, not thedpendent auditors, as the entity is responsiblediecting accounting principles for the
financial statements that are presented in confgrmith GAAP. FAS 162 is effective November 15080 The adoption of this pronouncement
did not have any impact on our consolidated finalngdsition, results of operations or cash flows.

In April 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff PositiRSP”) FAS 142-3, “Determination of the Useful &ibf Intangible Assets.” This FSP
amends the factors that should be considered ialdeiwg renewal or extension assumptions usedtErmie the useful life of a recognized
intangible asset under FASB Statement No. 142, tddlband Other Intangible Assets”, (“FAS 142"). The objective of this FSRasmprove
the consistency between the useful life of a retzeghintangible asset under FAS 142 and the pef@Xpected cash flows used to measure the
fair value of the asset under FAS 141(R) and dthéted States GAAP principles. This FSP is effezteginning January 1, 2009. We are in the
process of evaluating the impact of this provisianour consolidated financial position and resofteperations.

In May 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff PositionBAR4-1, “Accounting for Convertible Debt Instrumerithat May Be Settled in Cash
upon Conversion (Including Partial Cash SettlenfeiffSP APB 14-1"). FSP APB 14-1 specifies that €onvertible debt instruments that may
be settled in cash upon conversion, issuers of msttuments should separately account for theliipland equity components in the statement of
financial condition. The excess of the initial peeds of the convertible debt instrument over thewarhallocated to the liability component cre:

a debt discount which should be amortized as iatengpense over the expected life of the liabiRgP APB 14t is effective beginning January
2009 and is to be applied retrospectively. We areetitly evaluating the impact of adopting FSP ARB1 on our financial position and results of
operations.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures Aout Market Risk.

Not applicable.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

To the Audit Committee of the
Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Towerstream Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsheets of Towerstream Corporation and Subsididttie “Company”as of December 3
2008 and December 31, 2007, and the related coliasedl statements of operations, stockholders’ yauitl cash flows for the years then
ended. These financial statements are the redplitysof the Company’s management. Our responigjbis to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighafloUnited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audits toiolr@asonable assurance about whether the finastei@ments are free of material misstatem
The Company is not required to have, nor were vgaged to perform, an audit of its internal contre¢r financial reporting. Our audits included
consideration of internal control over financigbogting as a basis for designing audit proceduratsdre appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on theatiffeness of the Company'’s internal control ouearicial reporting. Accordingly, we express
no such opinion. An audit also includes examinomya test basis, evidence supporting the amoutsligclosures in the financial statements,
assessing the accounting principles used and &ignifestimates made by management, as well asairaj the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits providesgsonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referredbove present fairly, in all material respedis, ¢onsolidated financial position of Towerstream
Corporation, as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 {teendonsolidated results of its operations andash flows for the years then ended, in
conformity with accounting principles generally apted in the United States of America.

/sl Marcum & Kliegman LLP

New York, New York
March 16 , 2009
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TOWERSTREAM CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

As of December 31

2008 2007
Assets
Current Asset
Cash and cash equivale $ 24,740,26 $ 40,756,86
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doub#fttounts of $66,649 and $77,6Irespectively 279,39¢ 184,62:
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 319,32! 736,15t
Total Current Asse 25,338,99 41,677,64
Property and equipment, r 12,890,77 8,518,75!
Security deposits and other ass 183,06: 283,79
FCC licenses 875,00( 475,00(
Total Assets $ 39,287,83 $ 50,955,18
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current Liabilities
Current maturities of capital lease obligati $ 25,34t $ 47,48¢
Accounts payabl 1,394,471 1,413,971
Accrued expense¢ 861,39( 685,57t
Deferred revenue 985,40: 631,50t
Shor-term debt, net of discount of $142,€ 2,607,39! -
Deferred rent 52,55¢ -
Total Current Liabilities 5,926,56- 2,778,53:
Other Liabilities
Lonc-term debt, net of discount of $357,1 - 3,142,86.
Capital lease obligations, net of current mées - 25,34
Deferred rent 354,07: 273,15:
Total Other Liabilities 354,07: 3,441,35
Total Liabilities 6,280,63! 6,219,89
Commitments (Note 14
Stockholders' Equit
Preferred stock, par value $0.001; 5,000 A@horized, none outstandi - -
Common stock, par value $0.001; 70,000,000 shartmazed; 34,587,854 and 34,080,053 issued and
outstanding, respective 34,58t¢ 34,08(
Additional pai-in-capital 54,851,75 53,223,03
Deferred consulting cos - (20,100
Accumulated deficit (21,879,14) (8,501,72)
Total Stockholders’ Equity 33,007,19 44,735,28
Total Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity $ 39,287,83 $ 50,955,18

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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TOWERSTREAM CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

For the Years Ended
December 31,

2008 2007

Revenues $ 10,656,08 $ 6,883,34:

Operating Expense
Cost of revenues (exclusive of depreciati 4,076,10!

2,469,06!

Depreciatior 3,222,711 1,879,51!
Customer support servic 1,820,10. 931,78!
Sales and marketir 7,692,26! 3,588,11.
General and administrati 7,208,80. 6,827,03
Total Operating Expense:! 24,019,98 15,695,51

Operating Loss
Other (Expense) Incormr
Interest incom

(13,363,90) (8,812,16)

578,37: 1,460,82!

Interest expens (509,59)) (974,779

Other expense, net (82,29 (175,60
Total Other (Expense) Income (13,51 310,44«

Net Loss $ (13,377,41) $ (8,501,72)

Net loss per common she- basic and diluted $ (0.39) $ (0.29)
Weighted average common shares outstanding — dadidiluted 34,543,97 29,243,80

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Balance at January 1, 2007 (see Not

University Girls Calendar, Ltd. upon
merger on January 12, 20C

Recapitalization of accumulated defici
at the time of S corporation revocati

Net proceeds from issuance of comn
stock- January 12, 200

Net proceeds from issuance of comn
stock— June 11, 200

Conversion of stockholder’s notes
payable

Conversion of notes payat

Beneficial conversion feature upon
conversion of stockholder’s notes
payable into commolstock

Issuance of common stock for
consulting services

Exercise of warrant

Exercise of option

Fair value of warrants issued in
connection with issuance of
debenture:

Issuance of warrants to placement ag
in connection with issuance of
debenture:

Cashless exercise of warra

Stock-based compensatic

Amortization of deferred consulting
costs

Net loss

Balance at December 31, 20

Conversion of lon-term debt

Issuance of common stock for bonu

Cashless exercise of warra

Cashless exercise of optio

Payment for fractional shares upon
cashlessexercise

Stock-based compensatic

Amortization of deferred consulting
costs

Net loss

Balance at December 31, 2008

TOWERSTREAM CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
For the Years Ended December 31, 2008 and 2007

Additional Deferred
Common Stock Paid-In- Consulting Accumulated

Shares Amount Capital Costs Deficit Total
15,000,00 $ 15,00 $ 8,896,80: $ - $ (8,213,00) $ 698,80:
1,900,001 1,90( (18,657) (16,757)
(8,213,00) 8,213,00: -
5,110,05! 5,11( 11,046,12 11,051,23
10,000,00 10,00( 37,190,00 37,200,00
1,302,58: 1,30¢ 1,940,33. 1,941,63
156,25( 15€ 249,84 250,00(
378,05! 378,05!
200,00( 20C 401,80( (402,000) -
56,06: 56 119,91° 119,97:
4,67 5 6,67¢ 6,681
526,92 526,92
34,75( 34,75(
350,43: 35C (350) -
663,80! 663,80!
381,90( 381,90(
(8,501,72) (8,501,72)
34,080,05 34,08( 53,223,03 (20,100 (8,501,72) 44,735,28
272,72 273 749,72 750,00(
31,09¢ 31 21,11¢ 21,14%
184,93t 18E (185) -
19,037 19 (19 -
C) 9)
858,09: 858,09:
20,10( 20,10(
(13,377,41) (13,377,41)
34,587,85 $ 34,58 $ 54,851,75 $ - $ (21,879,14) $ 33,007,19

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

28




Table of Contents

TOWERSTREAM CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net casdun operating activitie
Provision for doubtful accoun
Depreciatior
Stocl-based compensatic
Nor-cash interest on notes paya
Amortization of beneficial conversion featt
Accretion of debt discoul
Amortization of financing cos
Deferred ren
Loss on sale and disposition of property aquipmen
Other

Changes in operating assets and liabili
Accounts receivab
Prepaid expenses and other current a
Accounts payabl
Accrued expenst
Deferred compensatit
Deferred revenues
Total Adjustments
Net Cash Used In Operating Activities

Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Acquisitions of property and equipme
Proceeds from sale of property and equipr
Acquisition of FCC license
Change in security deposits

Net Cash Used In Investing Activities

Cash Flows From Financing Activities
Net proceeds from sale of debentt
Repayment of stockholder no
Repayment of equipment nc
Payment for fractional shares issuable upohleas exercise of warrar
Repayment of capital leas
Proceeds from exercise of warra
Proceeds from exercise of optic
Net proceeds from sale of common stock
Net Cash (Used In) Provided By Financing Activitie:

Net (Decrease) Increase In Cash and Cash Equivaler

Cash and Cash Equivalent— Beginning
Cash and Cash Equivalent— Ending

For the Years Ended December 3

2008 2007
$ (13,377,41) $  (8,501,72)
65,00( 90,00(
3,222,711 1,879,51!
899,33¢ 1,045,70!
73,39: 74,88:
- 378,05!
141,14: 169,78
58,25( 56,30¢
133,47 273,15:
83,40¢ 25,63
- 1,13¢
(159,779 (117,179
477,02 (710,959
(19,499 579,02!
175,81: 562,15
- (10,000)
353,89 230,74(
5,504,18. 4,527,96!
(7,873,23) (3,973,760)
(7,683,85) (6,709,91)
5,70( 44,60(
(400,00) (125,00)
(17,719 (104,79)
(8,095,871 (6,895,11)
- 3,360,001

- (200,00)

- (9,349)

9) -
(47,48) (63,179
- 119,97:

- 6,681

- 48,251,23
(47,490 51,465,37
(16,016,59) 40,596,50
40,756,86 160,36:
$ 2474026 $  40,756,86

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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TOWERSTREAM CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS - CONTINUED

For the Years Ended
December 31,

2008 2007

Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Informatioi
Cash paid for

Interest $ 172,42 $ 321,69:
Non-cash investing and financing activitit

Conversion of principal and interest on notes p&yatio shares of common stock $ - $ 2,191,63
Conversion of long-term debt into shares of comrsimack $ 750,000 $ -
Assumption of accounts payable in reverse mergas#ction $ - $ 16,752

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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TOWERSTREAM CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1. Organization and Nature of Business

Towerstream Corporation (herein after referredstd Bowerstream” or the “Company”) was formed ddecember 17, 1999 and was
incorporated in Delaware. In January 2007, the Comgggerminated its Sub S tax status and electegéoate as a C corporation with its corporate
headquarters located in Rhode Island.

In January 2007, Towerstream merged with a newinéal subsidiary of University Girls Calendar LtdUGC”), a publicly traded shell
company. In connection with the merger, all outdiag shares of UGC were cancelled, except for 1@@shares of common stock. Also, in
connection with the merger, UGC issued 15,000,0@0es of its common stock for all the outstandiagnmon stock of Towerstream. As a result
of the transaction, the former owners of Towerstrédgecame the controlling stockholders of UGC wtildo changed its name to Towerstream
Corporation. The previously private company, Towem Corporation, changed its name to Towerstieéne., and became a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the publicly traded company. The reeif Towerstream and UGC was a reverse mergentdisaccounted for as a recapitalization
of Towerstream.

The Company provides fixed wireless broadband sesvio commercial customers based on a monthlyrierguevenue model. The
Company provides customers high speed Internesaaneer a fixed wireless network transmitting dweth regulated and unregulated radio
spectrum. The Company’s service supports bandwidttiemand, wireless redundancy, virtual privatevogts (“VPNs”), disaster recovery,
bundled data and video services. The Company pes\ddrvice to business customers in New York @ibgton, Chicago, Los Angeles, San
Francisco, Seattle, Miami, Dallas-Fort Worth, Pdmrice and Newport, Rhode Island.

Note 2.  Summary of Significant Accounting Poli@s

Basis of Presentation. The consolidated financial statements have beqraped in accordance with accounting principles gaheaccepted i
the United States of America for annual financtatements and with Form 10-K and Article 8 of Regioh S-X of the Securities and Exchange
Commission (“SEC”"). The consolidated financial staénts include the accounts of the Company andhitdly owned subsidiaries. All
significant intercompany balances and transacti@ve been eliminated in consolidation. In the apindf the Company’s management, the
accompanying consolidated financial statementsadortl| the adjustments necessary (consisting ohhormal recurring accruals) to present the
financial position of the Company as of DecemberZ2D8 and 2007, and the results of operationscast flows for the years ended December
31, 2008 and 2007 not misleading.

Use of Estimates. The preparation of financial statements in conféymiith accounting principles generally acceptedhi@ United States of
America requires management to make estimates ssohgtions that affect the reported amounts oftassel liabilities, the disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date effiteancial statements, and the reported amoumsveinues and expenses during the reporting
period. Actual results could differ from those ewsdtes.

Cash and Cash Equivalents. The Company considers all highly liquid investmenith a maturity of three months or less when pasdd to
be cash equivalents.

Concentration of Credit Risk. Financial instruments that potentially subject@@mpany to significant concentrations of credik iensist of
cash and cash equivalents.

At times, our cash and cash equivalents may besuréd or in deposit accounts that exceed the Heldepmsit Insurance Corporation
(“FDIC") insurance limits.

The Company also had approximately $23,683,000ste¢kin four institutional money market funds. Téh&snds are protected under the
Securities Investor Protection Corporation (“SIBCa nonprofit membership corporation which prasdimited coverage up to $500,000.

Accounts Receivable . Accounts receivable are stated at cost lesslawahce for doubtful accounts. The allowance faulutful accounts
reflects the Company’s estimate of accounts rebéavinat will be not collected. The allowance isééon the history of past write-offs, the aging
of balances, collections experience and curremitteenditions. Amounts determined to be uncolldetiare written-off against the allowance for
doubtful accounts. Additions to the allowance foubtful accounts, e.g. bad debt expense, total&@$6 and $90,000 for 2008 and 2007,
respectively. Deductions to the allowance for déulccounts, e.g. customer write-offs, totaled,$85 and $119,630 for 2008 and 2007,
respectively.
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TOWERSTREAM CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTIN UED

Property and Equipment. Property and equipment are stated at cost andde@quipment, installation costs and materials.r@gation is
calculated on a straight-line basis over the eg@thaseful lives of the assets. Leasehold improvesngre amortized over the lesser of the useful
lives or the term of the respective lease. Netwbdse station and customer premise equipment areaated over estimated useful lives ranging
from 5 to 7 years; furniture, fixtures and officgugpment from 5 to 7 years; computer equipment taf B years; and system software of 3 years.

Expenditures for maintenance and repairs, whichat@enerally extend the useful life of the assats,charged to expense as incurred. Gains
or losses on disposal of property and equipmentedlected in the statement of operations in thiopleof disposal.

FCC Licenses. Federal Communication Commission (“FCC”) licensesigitially recorded at cost and are considereletantangible assets
with an indefinite life because the Company is dblmaintain the license indefinitely as long asoinplies with certain FCC requirements. The
Company intends to maintain compliance with sucfuirements. Statement of Financial Accounting Saadsl (“SFAS”) No. 142, “Goodwill and
Other Intangible Assets”, (“FAS 142") provides tlaat asset with an indefinite useful life is not atized. However, as further described in the
next paragraph, these assets are reviewed anffioiitypairment.

Long-Lived Assets. Long-lived assets consist primarily of property agglipment, and FCC licenses. Long-lived assetseaiewed annually
for impairment, or whenever events or circumstaticggate their carrying value may not be recoviraBonditions that would result in an
impairment charge include a significant declinéhiea market value of an asset, a significant chamd¢ige extent or manner in which an asset is
used, or a significant adverse change that wouitate that the carrying amount of an asset orguafassets is not recoverable. When such
events or circumstances arise, an estimate oftiesf undiscounted cash flows produced by the ass#te appropriate grouping of assets, is
compared to the asset’s carrying value to deterihingpairment exists pursuant to the requirem@itSFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Asset#f'the asset is determined to be impaired, the impent loss is measured based on the excess
carrying value over its fair value. Assets to b&pdsed of are reported at the lower of their cagyialue or net realizable value.

The Company has determined that there were no impats of its property and equipment or its FC@niges during the years ended
December 31, 2008 and 2007.

SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement @Qbtions”, (“FAS 143”) addresses financial accougtmd reporting for obligations
associated with the retirement of tangible longdi\assets and the associated asset retirementleASt443 requires the recognition of an asset
retirement obligation and an associated asseene¢int cost when there is a legal obligation in eation with the retirement of tangible lofiged
assets. The Company’s network equipment is instalfeboth buildings in which the Company has adessggeement (“Company Locations”) and
at customer locations. In both instances, the liasian and removal of the Compamsyequipment is not complicated and does not regtiivetura
changes to the building where the equipment isilest. Costs associated with the removal of the Gamy’s equipment at company or customer
locations are not material, and accordingly, thenBany has determined that it does not presentlg haset retirement obligations under FAS

Fair Value of Financial Instruments. In January 2008, the Company adopted the proviib®$AS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements”,
(“FAS 157”) which defines fair value for accountipgrposes, establishes a framework for measuringdfue and expands disclosure
requirements regarding fair value measurements Cldmpany’s adoption of FAS 157 did not have a ni@tenpact on its consolidated financial
statements. Fair value is defined as an exit pvitéch is the price that would be received upoe sdilan asset or paid upon transfer of a liability
in an orderly transaction between market partidipanthe measurement date. The degree of judgutibnéd in measuring the fair value of ass
and liabilities generally correlates to the levepdcing observability. Financial assets and ligileis with readily available, actively quoted p
or for which fair value can be measured from adyivpioted prices in active markets generally haweenpricing observability and require less
judgment in measuring fair value. Conversely, fitriahassets and liabilities that are rarely tradedot quoted have less price observability
are generally measured at fair value using valnatiodels that require more judgment. These valonadohniques involve some level of
management estimation and judgment, the degredichvis dependent on the price transparency oasiset, liability or market and the nature of
the asset or liability. The Company has categoritefinancial assets and liabilities measuredaatfalue into a three- level hierarchy in
accordance with FAS 157. See Note 13 for a furdliszussion regarding the Company’s measurememarfidial assets and liabilities at fair
value.
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TOWERSTREAM CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS- CONTINU ED

Income Taxes. Income taxes are accounted for under the assdiadnility method. Deferred tax assets and lialgbtiare recognized for the
future tax consequences attributable to differehetween the financial statement carrying amouhéxisting assets and liabilities and their
respective tax bases, and operating loss and ¢alt carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and ligdsliare measured using enacted tax rates
expected to apply to taxable income in the yearshith those temporary differences are expectdmbtrecovered or settled. The effect on
deferred tax assets and liabilities of a changexrates is recognized in operations in the pettiad includes the enactment date. A valuation
allowance is provided when it is more likely thast that some portion or all of a deferred tax assknot be realized. The ultimate realization of
deferred tax assets is dependent upon the geneddtfature taxable income and the reversal of detetax liabilities during the period in which
related temporary differences become deductible.3énefit of tax positions taken or expected ttalzen in the Company’s income tax returns
are recognized in the consolidated financial stetgsnif such positions are more likely than nobeihg sustained.

Segment Information. SFAS No. 131, “Disclosures about Segments of aerfarise and Related Information”, (“FAS 131") edistles
standards for reporting information on operatingnsents in interim and annual financial statemefii® Company operates in one segment which
is the business of fixed wireless broadband sesvitke Company’s chief operating decision-makeiergs the Companyg operating results on
aggregate basis and manages the Company’s operasansingle operating segment.

Revenue Recognition. The Company normally enters into contractual agergswith its customers for periods ranging betwaes to three
years. The Company recognizes the total revenugded under a contract ratably over the contradbgdeincluding any periods under which the
Company has agreed to provide services at no De$trred revenues are recognized as a liabilitynafitings are received in advance of the ¢
when revenues are earned. The Company applies\tkaue recognition principles set forth under SEgf &\ccounting Bulletin 104, (“SAB
104") which provides for revenue to be recognizdtmw (i) persuasive evidence of an arrangementseXigtdelivery or installation has been
completed, (iii) the customer accepts and verifegeipt, and (iv) collectability is reasonably asslu

Deferred Revenues. Deferred revenues consist of either prepaymenttofé service periods or payments received forecuirservices which
overlap monthly reporting periods.

Advertising Costs. The Company charges advertising costs to expense@sed. Advertising costs for the years endedddeber 31, 2008
and 2007 were approximately $1,024,000 and $594@3pectively, and are included in sales and ntiakexpenses in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations.

Sock-Based Compensation. The Company accounts for share-based awards exetidogemployee services in accordance with SFAS No
123(R), “Share-Based Payment”, (“FAS 123(R)"). UnBAS 123(R), share-based compensation expensedsured at the grant date, based on
the estimated fair value of the award, and is recegl as expense, net of estimated forfeitures, tneeemployee’s requisite service period.
Compensation expense is amortized on a straigbthiasis over the requisite service period for titeeaward, which is generally the maximum
vesting period of the award.

Basic and Diluted Loss Per Share. Net loss per share is computed in accordance vi%kSSNo. 128, “Earnings Per Share”, (“FAS 128")
which requires the presentation of both basic aluded earnings per share.

Basic and diluted net loss per share has beenlatdduby dividing net loss by the weighted averageber of common shares outstanding
during the period. All potentially dilutive commahares have been excluded since their inclusioddimriantidilutive.
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TOWERSTREAM CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS- CONTINU ED

The following common stock equivalents were exctitem the computation of diluted net loss per camrshare because they were
antidilutive. The exercise of these common stoakivedents outstanding could potentially dilute eags per shares in the future. The exercise of
the outstanding stock options and warrants coutetgge proceeds up to approximately $26,067,000.

Years Ended December 31

2008 2007
Stock option 3,335,79. 2,328,06
Warrants 4,332,31! 4,672,32!
Convertible debt 1,000,00: 1,272,722
Total 8,668,10- 8,273,12

Reclassifications. Certain accounts in the prior year consolidatedrfgial statements have been reclassified for comtiparpurposes to
conform to the presentation in the current yeaisotidated financial statements. These reclassificathave no effect on the previously reported
net loss.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements. In September 2006, the Financial Accounting StashslBoard (“FASB”) issued FAS 157, which is
effective for fiscal years beginning after Novem#gr 2007 and for interim periods within those pedhis statement defines fair value,
establishes a framework for measuring fair valug expands the related disclosure requirements.staiement applies under other accounting
pronouncements that require or permit fair valuasneements. The statement indicates, among otingsththat a fair value measurement
assumes that the transaction to sell an assedrmsfér a liability occurs in the principal market the asset or liability or, in the absence of a
principal market, the most advantageous marketh®asset or liability. FAS 157 defines fair vahssed upon an exit price model. Relative to
FAS 157, the FASB issued FASB Staff Positions (“BIB7-1, FSP 157-2, and proposed FSP 157-c. FSPLI&mends FAS 157 to exclude
SFAS No. 13, “Accounting for Leases”, (“FAS 138nd its related interpretive accounting pronouncemthat address leasing transactions, v
FSP 157-2 delays the effective date of FAS 15&aflononfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabisitiexcept those that are recognized or disclosed
at fair value in the financial statements on a réog basis. FSP 157-c clarifies the principle§&S 157 on the fair value measurement of
liabilities. The Company adopted FAS 157 as of dayd, 2008, with the exception of the applicatidrthe statement to nonrecurring
nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilitieshil& the Company is currently evaluating the impzfdhe application of the statement to
nonrecurring nonfinancial assets and nonfinan@ailities on its consolidated financial statemeaum®n adoption, the Company does not
anticipate a material impact on its consolidatedficial position and results of operations. RefeMate 13 for additional discussion on fair value
measurements.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159¢“Fhir Value Option for Financial Assets and Finalnciabilities -including an
amendment of FASB Statement No. 115", (“FAS 159ieh permits entities to choose to measure mamnfiial instruments and certain other
items at fair value. The fair value option perngitgities to choose to measure eligible items at@ue at specified election dates. A business
entity shall report unrealized gains and losse#ems for which the fair value option has been teldén earnings at each subsequent reporting
date. Adoption is required for fiscal years begmgnafter November 15, 2007. The Company adopted F#%on January 1, 2008, but elected not
to apply the fair value option to any of its eligilinancial assets or liabilities at that dateefiéfore, the provisions of FAS 159 had no impact on
the Company’s consolidated financial position agglits of operations for the year ended Decembe2(B18.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 14I@)siness Combinations”, (“FAS 141(R)”) which req#as SFAS No. 141, “Business
Combinations”. FAS 141(R) establishes principled eeguirements for determining how an enterprisegaizes and measures the fair value of
certain assets and liabilities acquired in a bissrembination, including noncontrolling interestsntingent consideration and certain acquired
contingencies. FAS 141(R) also requires that adiisrelated transaction expenses and restrugwasts be expensed as incurred rather than
capitalized as a component of the business combma&AS 141(R) will be applicable prospectivelygbeing January 1, 2009.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160nddatrolling Interests in Consolidated Financiat®ments, an Amendment of ARB
No. 51", “FAS 160"). FAS 160 establishes accounting and reporting stasdar the noncontrolling interest in a subsidigrgeviously referred t
as minority interests). FAS 160 also requires ¢hadtained noncontrolling interest upon the declidetion of a subsidiary be initially measured at
its fair value. Upon adoption of FAS 160, the Compwill be required to report any noncontrollingerests as a separate component of
consolidated stockholders’ equity. The Company aldb be required to present any net income alledalnoncontrolling interests and net
income attributable to the stockholders of the Canypseparately in its consolidated statements efaijpns. FAS 160 is effective prospectively
beginning January 1, 2009.
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TOWERSTREAM CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS- CONTINU ED

In May 2008, FASB issued SFAS No. 162, “The Hiehgrof Generally Accepted Accounting Principles &S 162"). FAS 162 identifies
the sources of accounting principles and the fraamkvior selecting the principles to be used ingheparation of financial statements of
nongovernmental entities that are presented inozomify with United States Generally Accepted Accingp Principles (“GAAP”). FAS 162
directs the GAAP hierarchy to the entity, not thedpendent auditors, as the entity is responsiblediecting accounting principles for the
financial statements that are presented in contgrmith GAAP. FAS 162 is effective November 15, 300’ he adoption of this pronouncement
did not have any impact on the Company’s consdadifihancial position, results of operations orcisws.

In April 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff PositiRSP”) FAS 142-3, “Determination of the Useful &ibf Intangible Assets.” This FSP
amends the factors that should be considered ialdeiwg renewal or extension assumptions usedtermée the useful life of a recognized
intangible asset under FAS 142. The objective isfHSP is to improve the consistency between te&ulikfe of a recognized intangible asset
under FAS 142 and the period of expected cash flses to measure the fair value of the asset UpdiBr141(R) and other United States GAAP
principles. This FSP is effective beginning Janugrg009. The Company is in the process of evaigatie impact of this provision on its

consolidated financial position and results of agiens.

In May 2008, the FASB issued FASB APB Staff Positlal-1, “Accounting for Convertible Debt Instrumeffthat May Be Settled in Cash
upon Conversion (Including Partial Cash Settlenie(iffSP APB 14-1"). FSP APB 14-1 specifies that é@nvertible debt instruments that may
be settled in cash upon conversion, issuers of msttuments should separately account for theliipland equity components in the statement of
financial condition. The excess of the initial peeds of the convertible debt instrument over thewarhallocated to the liability component cre:
a debt discount which should be amortized as iatengpense over the expected life of the liabiRgP APB 14t is effective beginning January
2009 and is to be applied retrospectively. The Camyps currently evaluating the impact of adop®P APB 14-1 on its financial position and

results of operations.

Note 3. Property and Equipment, net

The Company'’s property and equipment, net is cosegrof:

Network and base station equipm
Customer premise equipm:
Furniture, fixtures and equipme
Computer equipme

System softwal

Leasehold improvemer

Less: accumulated depreciat

December 31

2008 2007
$ 11,07563 $ 7,448,25
7,079,091 4,120,64
1,525,98 1,294,47,
559,64! 476,20
789,81 473,26
775,42( 496,36
21,805,58 14,309,21
8,914,80: 5,790,46.

$ 12,890,77 $ 8,518,75

Depreciation expense for the years ended Decenih&0®8 and 2007 was $3,222,716 and $1,879,51%¢ctgely. The Company sold or
wrote-off property and equipment with $187,485 estcand $98,375 of accumulated depreciation foyé&ae ended December 31, 2008. The
Company sold or wrote-off property and equipmernthwil42,907 of cost and $72,670 of accumulatededggtion for the year ended December

31, 2007.
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TOWERSTREAM CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS- CONTINU ED

Property held under capital leases included withehnCompany’s property and equipment consistsefdahowing:

December 31

2008 2007
Network and base station equipm $ 168,44. $ 194,70:
Less: accumulated depreciation 106,09¢ 93,41¢

$ 62,34: $ 101,28:

The Company wrote-off property and equipment urtdgital leases with $26,261 of cost and $25,38%cofimulated deprecation during the
year ended December 31, 2008.

Note 4. Accrued Expenses
Accrued expenses consist of the following:

December 31

2008 2007

Payroll and relate $ 510,60¢ $ 376,31
Penalties 149,97¢ 149,97¢
Interest 55,00( -
Rent 50,14¢ -
Advertising - 45,95(
Other 95,65 113,33:

Total $ 861,39( $ 685,57t

Note 5. Debt

In January 2007, the Company issued $3,500,00@w$énior convertible debentures (the “Debentuje¥hese Debentures mature on
December 31, 2009, and are convertible, in whole part, into shares of common stock at an ingt@version price of $2.75 per share. In
addition, holders of the Debentures received wasrempurchase an aggregate of 636,364 sharesrohoa stock at an exercise price of $4.00 per
share and warrants to purchase an aggregate &@Bshares of common stock at an exercise pri6 .60 per share. These warrants are
exercisable until January 2012 and were calculasét the Black-Scholes option pricing model. Thecpeds were allocated between the
warrants ($526,927) and the Debentures ($2,973888)d on their relative fair values. The initthtcounted carrying value of the Debentures of
$2,973,073 is being accreted to the maturity vaker the term of the Debentures. The amount ofedicer recorded in each period is recognized
as non-cash interest expense. Interest expended®a61,689 during 2008 and included $220,548catem with the 8% coupon and $141,141
associated with the accretion of the discount.résieexpense totaled $437,962 during 2007 andded$268,174 associated with the 8% coupon
and $169,788 associated with the accretion of theodnt.

In January 2008, a Debenture holder converted $250pf Debentures into common stock at a converngite of $2.75 per share resulting
the issuance of 272,727 shares of common stockcdirging value of the Debentures on the date offetsion was $676,607. Accordingly, the
Company recognized the remaining debt discoun¥78{393 as non-cash interest expense in connecttbrttve conversion.

Should the Company, at any time while the Debestare outstanding, sell or grant any option to lpase or sell or grant any right to repri

or otherwise dispose of or issue any common statiliag any party to acquire shares of the Compaorgmmon stock at a per share price less
than $2.75, the conversion price of the Debentsihedl be reduced to equal that lower price.

36




Table of Contents

TOWERSTREAM CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS- CONTINU ED

The terms of the Debentures provide for interesthenoutstanding principal at the rate of 8% permuan, payable quarterly commencing
January 1, 2008. So long as a resale registrataansent is in effect with respect to the sharesoofimon stock underlying the Debentures anc
debenture holders are not subject to any marketletéprovisions, as described below, interestaggble in either cash or common stock, at the
Company’s option. If interest is paid in commoncktchowever, the shares shall be valued at 90%e10-day volume weighted average price of
the Company’s common stock prior to the intereghpent date. In the event that there is an effectdgistration statement on file with the
Securities and Exchange Commission with respettteé@ommon stock underlying the Debentures andltsng bid price for the 10 trading days
prior to an interest payment date is $3.44, ortgre¢he interest payment for that period will baived. Moreover, if there is an effective
registration statement on file with the Securii@sl Exchange Commission with respect to the comstaek underlying the Debentures, the
debenture holders are not subject to any marketletéiprovisions, and the 10-day volume weightedrage price of the Company’s common
stock exceeds $5.50 for 10 consecutive trading,dhgsCompany has the right to force the deberftalgers to convert their Debentures into
common stock upon 10-day prior written notice.

As part of the debenture agreement, the Companynoggledge or grant a lien on any of its assetbawit the debenture holders’ consent.

In connection with the Debentures, the Companyrieclplacement agent fees totaling approximate$0§100 and issued placement agent
warrants to purchase up to 63,636 shares of constomk at an exercise price of $4.50 per share vildreants are exercisable for five years and
were valued at $34,750 using the Black-Scholesngrimodel. These financing costs are being amattmesr the term of the debenture
agreement.

Note 6. Capital Lease Obligations

The Company leases certain equipment under vaciapisal leases expiring in 2009. Lease obligatain®ecember 31, 2008 total $26,670
which $25,346 represents principal and $1,324 s deferred interest expense. The assets aieciagpd over the lease term, which
approximates their useful lives, using the stralgie method. Depreciation expense of assets uratgtal leases in 2008 and 2007 was
approximately $38,000 and $39,000 respectively.

Note 7. Capital Stock

The Company is authorized to issue 5,000,000 slne®ferred stock at a par value of $0.001. Thegee no issuances of preferred stock as
of December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

The Company is authorized to issue 70,000,000 slafreommon stock at a par value of $0.001. Thddrslof common stock are entitled to
one vote per share. The holders of the Companytswen stock are entitled to receive ratably suclidéivds, if any, as may be declared by the
board of directors out of legally available funtdgon liquidation, dissolution or winding-up, theltiers of the Company’s common stock are
entitled to share ratably in all assets that agallg available for distribution. The holders oét@ompany’s common stock have no preemptive,
subscription, redemption or conversion rights. Tights, preferences and privileges of holders ef@mpany’s common stock are subject to, and
may be adversely affected by, the rights of theléd of any series of preferred stock, which magémgnated solely by action of the board of
directors and issued in the future.

During 2008, two former employees exercised opttorurchase a total of 185,705 shares. The opti@ne exercised on a cashless exercise
basis resulting in the issuance of 19,037 sharks®. ik 2008, two former employees exercised wasrémpurchase a total of 251,717 shares. The
warrants were exercised on a cashless exercise fessilting in the issuance of 184,938 shares. tJadashless exercise, the holder uses a pc
of the shares that would otherwise be issuable epercise, rather than cash, as consideratioréoexercise. The amount of net shares issuable
in connection with a cashless exercise will vargdihon the exercise price of the option or warcantpared to the current market price of the
Company’s common stock on the date of exercise.

In December 2008, 31,099 shares of common stock issued to certain executive officers as parheirtquarterly bonuses. The Company
recognized compensation expense totaling $21,14¢hwhpresented the fair value of the shares ownldte of issuance.

During 2007, two former employees exercised opttonsurchase a total of 4,672 shares at an exqudise of $1.43 per share.
In June 2007, the Company issued 10,000,000 sbasssnmon stock in connection with a registereédioffering (the “Registered
Offering”) at $4.00 per share, resulting in grgssceeds of $40,000,000. In connection with theifeged Offering, the Company incurred

placement agent fees of $2,800,000 and issued miarn@ purchase 300,000 shares of common stodletplacement agents at an exercise pri
$4.00 per share for a period of five years.
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In June 2007, stockholders exercised warrants tchpse 325,000 and 75,000 shares, respectivelf. tBaotsactions were cashless exercises.
Accordingly, 288,976 shares were issued in exchémgine 325,000 warrants exercised and 61,45%shaere issued in exchange for the 75,000
warrants exercised.

In connection with each of its January 2007 unit dabenture private placements, the Company eniet@d registration rights agreement,
pursuant to which it agreed to file a registratipatement with the SEC to register the resale@tttares of common stock issued as part of the
units together with the common stock underlyinguhé warrants, the debentures and the debentunemta, and to cause such registration
statement to be declared effective by the SEC drefore May 28, 2007. This registration statemeas wot declared effective until July 18, 2007.
Accordingly, the Company recognized a liabilityagfproximately $150,000 representing liquidated dgsaqual to 1% of the purchase price of
the affected investors.

In February 2007, warrants to purchase 56,062 staefreommon stock were exercised for $119,973.

In January 2007, concurrent with the Merger, UGId §¢110,056 shares of common stock for gross masef $11,497,625 (at $2.25 per
share) through a private placement (the “Privdez®ment”). In addition, investors received watsato purchase 2,555,030 shares of common
stock for a period of five years at an exerciseeuf $4.50 per share. In connection with the ReiRlacement, UGC incurred placement agent
fees totaling approximately $446,400, and issuedamss to purchase up to 140,916 shares of commock % the placement agent at an exercise
price of $4.50 per share for a period of five years

In January 2007, certain stockholders collectiveysferred an aggregate of $1,616,754 in outstgnoliomissory notes and other payables
due from Towerstream to a group of third party Btees. In connection with these transfers, Toweastr issued new promissory notes to these
investors with an aggregate principal sum of $1,638 and cancelled the previous obligations. Theeiase in the notes payable of approximately
$75,000 was recorded as additional interest expleysee Company. These notes were automaticallyexted into 1,127,757 shares of common
stock of UGC at a discounted conversion price @salt of the Merger. The Company recognized na@hdaterest expense of approximately
$314,000, representing the discounted amount.

In January 2007, concurrent with the Merger, aldtolder converted a $250,000 note exercised inth8P5 shares of common stock at $1
per share.

In January 2007, concurrent with the Merger, a $230 promissory note was converted into 156,25@eshaf common stock at a discounted
conversion price as a result of the Merger. The Gamy recognized non-cash interest expense of ajppately $64,000, representing the
discounted amount.

In January 2007, the Company entered into a oneggessulting agreement for investor relations sssi The agreement provides for
monthly payments of $7,500 plus expenses and svamee of 200,000 shares of common stock. Thedhie of the common shares was
$402,000 which was amortized over the one yearutbng term. For the years ended December 31, 20@82007, the Company recognized
$20,100 and $381,900, respectively, which wereuhet! in general and administrative expenses.

Note 8. Share-Based Compensation

The Company uses the Black-Scholes valuation ntodedlue options granted to employees, directodscamsultants. Compensation
expense, including the effect of forfeitures, isagnized over the period of service, generallyvigting period. Stock-based compensation for the
amortization of stock options granted under the Gany’s stock option plans totaled $858,092 and #E3for the years ended December 31,
2008 and 2007, respectively. Stock-based compemstti the amortization of stock-based consultiegsftotaled $20,100 and $381,900 for the
years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, respgctitelck-based compensation is included in gerardladministrative expenses in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

The unamortized amount of stock options expenseddad4,372 as of December 31, 2008, which wiltdmognized over a weighted-
average period of 2.47 years. There were no un@edrstock-based consulting fees as of Decembe2(B13.
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The fair values of stock option grants were cal@dan the dates of grant using the Black-Schai¢i®io valuation model and the following
weighted average assumptions:

Years Ended December 31

2008 2007
Risk-free interest rat 1.7%- 3.4% 3.3%- 5.(%
Expected volatility 74%- 9% 57%- 6C%
Expected life (in years 5-6.E 7
Expected dividend yiel 0% 0%

The risk-free interest rate is based on rates ksitalol by the Federal Reserve. In 2008, the Conpaxpected volatility was based upon
the historical volatility for its common stock. 2007, the Company’s expected volatility was basethe volatility of publicly-traded peers. In
2008, the expected life of the Company’s options determined using the simplified method underf@tatounting Bulletin No. 110 whereas in
2007, the expected life was based on the peridiinef that options were expected to be outstandihg.dividend yield is based upon the fact that
the Company has not historically paid dividends] daes not expect to pay dividends in the future.

For the year ended December 31, 2008, the Compmuoyded $21,147 of additional stock-based compiemsetlated to the issuance of
31,099 shares of common stock to certain execuofifieers as part of their 2008 bonus program.

Note 9. Employee Benefit Plan

The Company has established a 401(k) retirement((#01(k) plan”) which covers all eligible emplag®who have attained the age of
twenty-one and have completed 30 days of employmiéhtthe Company. The Company can elect to magctowa certain amount of employees’
contributions to the 401(k) plan. No employer ciinttions were made during the years ended DeceBthe2008 and 2007.
Note 10. Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes using the statuteggeral tax rate as compared to the Company’steféeax rate is summarized as follows:

For the Years Ended December 31

2008 2007
Federal statutory ra: (34.0 % (34.0) %
State taxe: (6.0) % (6.C) %
Permanent difference 0.C% 7.C%
Valuation allowance 40.(% 33.(%
Effective tax rate 0.0% 0.C%

Income tax benefit consists of the following:

For the Years Ended December 3

2008 2007
Income tax benefit at federal statutory r $ (4,548,39) $ (2,387,21)
State income taxes, net of federal ber (802,65%) (421,27¢)
Other 307,23( 236,59(
Change in valuation allowance 5,043,82. 2,571,90.
Total income tax benefit $ - $ =
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As a result of the Company’s significant net opieatoss (“NOL”") and the corresponding valuatiotoelance, no income tax benefit has
been recorded at December 31, 2008 and 2007.

Deferred tax assets (liabilities) consist of thiofeing:

For the Years Ended December 3

2008 2007
Net operating loss carryforwa $ 7,939,89. $ 2,612,91.
Stock-based compensatic 608,55¢ 418,08:
Allowance for doubtful accoun 26,66( 31,04¢
Other 16,76« 6,667
Deferred tax asse 8,591,87- 3,068,70!
Depreciatior (947,377) (485,919)
FCC licenses (28,779 (10,889
Deferred tax liabilities (976,15() (496,80
Valuation allowance (7,615,72) (2,571,90))
Net $ - % -

FIN 48

Effective January 1, 2007, the Company adopted FASBpretation 48, “Accounting for Uncertaintylimcome Taxes - an Interpretation of
FASB Statement No. 109", (“FIN 48"). This interpaibn establishes a minimum threshold for finanstatement recognition of the benefit of tax
positions, and requires certain expanded disclgséreditionally, FIN 48 provides guidance on measoent, derecognition, classification, inte
and penalties, accounting for income taxes in imgreriods, as well as the required disclosuresteartsition. The adoption of FIN 48 did not
have a material impact on the Company’s consolilfitencial position and results of operations.

FIN 48 prescribes a recognition threshold and asoreanent attribute for the financial statement gadion and measurement of tax positi
taken or expected to be taken in a tax returnttrase benefits to be recognized, a tax positiont tn@snore likely than not to be sustained upon
examination by taxing authorities. Differences bestw tax positions taken and or expected to be takanax return and the benefit recognized
and measured pursuant to the interpretation aeereef to as “unrecognized benefits”. A liabilityrecognized (or amount of NOL carryforward or
amount of tax refundable is reduced) for an unrazegl tax benefit because it represents an enserprpotential future obligation to the taxing
authority for a tax position that was not recogdias a result of applying provisions of FIN 48.

In accordance with FIN 48, interest costs relatedrirecognized tax benefits are required to beutatied (if applicable) and would be
classified within interest expense in the consaéidastatements of operations. Penalties would cegrézed as a component of general and
administrative expenses. No interest and penalt@s recorded during the years ended DecembelO8B, &nd 2007, respectively. As of
December 31, 2008 and 2007, no liability for unggieed tax benefits was required to be recorded.

NOL Limitations

The Company'’s utilization of NOL carryforwards isbgect to an annual limitation due to ownershiprajes that have occurred previously or
that could occur in the future as provided in Sat882 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, abasedimilar state and foreign provisions. In
general, an ownership change, as defined by Se882nresults from transactions increasing the oslip of certain stockholders or public group
in the stock of a corporation by more than fiftygatage points over a three-year period. Sindeiiteation, the Company has raised capital
through the issuance of capital stock and variamvertible instruments which, combined with theghasing shareholderstbsequent dispositi
of these shares, has resulted in an ownership elehdefined by Section 382, and also could r@salh ownership change in the future upon
subsequent disposition.
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The annual NOL limitation is determined by first ltiplying the value of the Company'’s stock at thred of ownership change by the
applicable long-term tax exempt rate, and could the subject to additional adjustments, as requikeg limitation may result in expiration of a
portion of the NOL carryforwards before utilization

The Company has not utilized any of its NOL carryfards as it has never reported taxable income Cdmpany has applied a full valuation
allowance against deferred tax assets related td@L carryforwards. Federal NOLs will begin expgiin 2027. State NOLs will begin expiring
in 2012.

Valuation Allowance

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax ss¢be Company has considered whether it is nilketylthan not that some portion or all of
the deferred tax assets will not be realized. Titimate realization of deferred tax assets is ddpahupon the generation of future taxable income
during the periods in which those temporary differs become deductible. In making this determinatinder the applicable financial reporting
standards, the Company is allowed to considerc¢heduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities, pot¢d future taxable income, and tax planning
strategies. A full valuation allowance has beemréed for the deferred tax asset balance as ofrbleee31, 2008 and 2007. A valuation
allowance will be maintained until sufficient pagé evidence exists to support the reversal of@onion or all of the valuation allowance, net of
appropriate reserves.

Note 11. Stock Option Plans

In conjunction with the Merger on January 12, 20DdWwerstream reserved a total of 3,200,000 sharethé issuance of options and warrs
Also, in conjunction with the Merger, the Compamppted the 2007 Equity Compensation Plan (the 72B@an”). The 2007 Plan provides for
the issuance of options, stock appreciation rigietstricted stock, restricted stock units, bonwseh and dividend equivalents to officers and other
employees, consultants and directors of the Compgangter the Merger agreement, all options and icewarrants were transferred into the 2007
Plan, including 350,386 warrants, which were exdeainfor 350,386 options. The total number of shafemmmon stock issuable under the 2007
Plan is 2,403,922. A total of 2,366,494 stock apdior common stock have been issued under the R@@7as of December 31, 2008.

In May 2007, the Board of Directors approved themithn of the 2007 Incentive Stock Plan which pd®s for the issuance of up to
2,500,000 shares of common stock in the form oibogtor restricted stock (the “2007 Incentive St&lan”). The 2007 Incentive Stock Plan w
approved by the Company’s stockholders in May 2@0thtal of 1,024,107 stock options have been idsualer the 2007 Incentive Stock Plan as
of December 31, 2008.

Options granted under both the 2007 Plan and tBb& Bicentive Plan have terms up to ten years am@xarcisable at a price per share not
less than the fair market value of the underlyiognmon stock on the date of grant. The total nunsbehares of common stock that remain
available for issuance as of December 31, 2008nuthée2007 Plan and the 2007 Incentive Stock Ptembined is 1,513,321 shares.

In August 2008, the Company'’s stockholders appratiecadoption of the 2008 Non-Employee Directors@ensation Plan (the “2008
Directors Plan”). Under the 2008 Directors Plamaggregate of 1,000,000 shares have been redemnisduance. As of December 31, 2008, no
shares have been issued under this plan. Optiamsegl under the 2008 Directors Plan have ternup b five years and are exercisable at a price
per share equal to the fair market value of thesdgiohg common stock on the date of grant.
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Transactions under the stock option plans duriegytrars ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 werd@s<p

Weighted
Number of Average
Options Exercise Price
Outstanding as of January 1, 2! 1,504,56. $ 1.31
Granted during 200 523,34( 4.8t
Warrants exchanged for optio 350,38t 1.14
Exercisec (4,672) 1.45
Forfeited /expired (45,55)) 1.4%
Outstanding as of December 31, 2( 2,328,06 2.0¢
Granted during 200 1,261,083 1.2¢
Exercisec (185,70Y) 1.45
Forfeited /expired (67,60.) 1.7C
Outstanding as of December 31, 2008 3,335,79. $ 1.82
The weighted average fair value of the options g@uduring 2008 and 2007 were $0.92 and $2.89¢ntisgly.
The following table summarizes information conceghoutstanding and exercisable stock options &ecémber 31, 2008:
Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted Weighted
Average Weighted Weighted Average
Range of Remaining  Average Proceeds Average  Remaining
Exercise Number Contractual  Exercise Upon Intrinsic Number Exercise  Contractual
Prices Outstanding Life (years) Price Exercise Value Exercisable Price Life (years)
$0.68- $0.78 645,30¢ 745 % 0.7¢ $ 470,70 $  1,15C 280,30¢ $ 0.7¢ 4.1¢€
$1.14- $1.22 550,38t 724 $ 117 $ 643,44( - 550,38t $ 1.1% 7.24
$1.32- $1.45 1,432,48 6.7t % 1.41 $2,025,25 - 948,96¢ $ 1.4z 5.4C
$2.00- $2.25 362,61: 8.67 $ 211 $ 763,59 - 135,91( $ 2.2¢ 8.1¢
$3.70 135,00( 8.4¢ % 3.7C $ 499,50( - 45,000 $ 3.7C 8.4¢
$7.05 135,00( 83t $ 7.0 $ 951,75( - 45,000 $ 7.0¢8 8.3t
$9.74 75,00( 3.1z $ 9.74 $ 730,50( - 65,62 $ 9.7¢4 3.12
3,335,79. 7.2 $ 1.82 $6,084,74 $  1,15( 2,071,190 $ 1.7¢ 5.9¢

The intrinsic value is calculated as the diffeebetween the closing price of the Company’s comstock at December 31, 2008, which
was $0.69 per share, and the exercise price afftiens. There was no intrinsic value associatih @ptions exercisable as of December 31,
2008.

The number of shares issuable upon the exercisatsfanding options, and the proceeds upon theigeeof such options, will be lower if an
option holder elects to exercise on a cashless.basi

Note 12. Stock Warrants

The Company has issued warrants to purchase sbfatesnmon stock which expire at various dates tghodune 2012. Under the Merger
agreement, 350,386 warrants were exchanged foB86@ptions under the 2007 Plan.
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Changes in warrants outstanding for the years eBéegmber 31, 2008 and 2007 were as follows:

Weighted
Number of Average
Warrants Exercise price
Warrants outstanding as of January 1, ¢ 1,146,46. $ 0.97
Granted (weighted average fair value 0939 4,332,31. 4.61
Warrants exchanged for optic (350,386 1.14
Exercisel (456,062 0.8¢
Warrants outstanding as of December 317 4,672,32! 4.34
Exercised during 200 (251,717 0.7t
Forfeited/expired (88,298 1.27
Warrants outstanding as of December 318: 4,332,311 $ 4.61
The following table summarizes information conceghoutstanding and exercisable warrants as of DeeeB1, 2008:
Warrants Outstanding Warrants Exercisable
Weighted Weighted
Average Weighted Weighted Average
Remaining Average Proceeds Average Remaining
Range of Exercise Number Contractual Exercise Upon Number Exercise Contractual
Prices Outstanding Life (years) Price Exercise Exercisable Price Life (years)
$4.00 936,36 317 % 40C $ 3,745/45 936,36: $ 4.0C 3.17
$4.50 2,759,58: 3.0 % 45C $ 12,418,11 2,759,58 % 4.5C 3.0:
$6.00 636,36 3.0 $ 6.0C $ 3,818,18 636,36: $ 6.0C 3.0:
4,332,31 3.06 $ 4.61 $ 19,981,75 4,332,311 $ 4.61 3.0¢€

This is no intrinsic value associated with the Camps warrants outstanding or exercisable as oebdxer 31, 2008.

The number of shares issuable upon the exercisatsfanding warrants, and the proceeds upon theisgeof such warrants, will be lower if
a warrant holder elects to exercise on a cashksis.b

Note 13. Fair Value Measurement

In September 2006, the FASB issued FAS 157, whidffective for fiscal years beginning after Novemh5, 2007 and for interim periods
within those years. This statement defines fain@akstablishes a framework for measuring fairevalnd expands the related disclosure
requirements. This statement applies under othmruating pronouncements that require or permitfaiue measurements. The statement
indicates, among other things, that a fair valu@asoeement assumes that the transaction to sefisst ar transfer a liability occurs in the prindi
market for the asset or liability or, in the abseo€ a principal market, the most advantageous etdck the asset or liability. FAS 157 defines
fair value based upon an exit price model.

FSP 157-1 amends FAS 157 to exclude FAS 13 amdléted interpretive accounting pronouncementsdtdtess leasing transactions, while
FSP 157-2 delays the effective date of the applinaif FAS 157 to fiscal years beginning after NoNer 15, 2008 for all nonfinancial assets and
nonfinancial liabilities that are recognized ordlised at fair value in the financial statement&gronrecurring basis.

In October 2008, the FASB issued FSP FAS No. 15D8termining the Fair Value of a Financial Asseh& the Market for That Asset is
not Active”. The FSP clarifies the application of FAS 157 whes market for a financial asset is not active. FB® was effective upon issuar
including reporting for prior periods for which fincial statements have not been issued. The adogtthe FSP for reporting as of September
30, 2008 did not have a material impact on the Gomgfs consolidated financial statements.
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Valuation Hierarchy

FAS 157 establishes a valuation hierarchy for dmate of the inputs to valuation used to measure/ddue. This hierarchy prioritizes the
inputs into three broad levels as follows. Levahduts are quoted prices (unadjusted) in activeketa for identical assets or liabilities. Level 2
inputs are quoted prices for similar assets arfdlili@s in active markets or inputs that are oliaéte for the asset or liability, either directly o
indirectly through market corroboration, for sulmstally the full term of the financial instrumenkLevel 3 inputs are unobservable inputs based on
the Company’s own assumptions used to measuresassefiabilities at fair value. A financial assetiability’s classification within the
hierarchy is determined based on the lowest leymltithat is significant to the fair value measuzein

The following table provides the assets and litibgicarried at fair value measured on a recutsagjs as of December 31, 2008:

Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 20(
Quoted prices Significant

Total Carrying in active other Significant
Value at Decembe  markets observable unobservable
31, 2008 (Level 1) inputs (Level 2 inputs (Level 3
Cash equivalents (money market funds) $ 23,683,45. $ 23,683,45 $ - $ z
Total $ 23,683,45 $ 23,683,45 $ - $ -

Cash equivalents are measured at fair value usioted market prices and are classified within Leavef the valuation hierarchy. The
carrying amounts of cash, accounts receivable,uats@ayable, accrued liabilities and debt appraxéntheir fair value due to their short
maturities. There were no changes in the valuagohniques during the year ended December 31,.2008
Note 14. Commitments and Contingencies

Lease Obligations. The Company has entered into operating leadated to roof rights, cellular towers, office spaand equipment leases
under various non-cancelable agreements expirimytiin March 2019. As of December 31, 2008, totalrieilease commitments were as follows:

Year Ending December 31

200¢ $ 2,301,02
201C 2,216,88;
2011 1,849,22
201z 1,638,64.
201z 919,39:
Thereafte 965,49

Rent expense for the years ended December 31,&@08007 totaled approximately $2,055,000 and $1000, respectively.

In March 2007, the Company entered into a leaseesgent for its corporate offices (the “Original 8@§. In August 2007, the Company
signed a lease amendment adding approximately @s@@are feet (the “Additional Space”) and extegdhe lease term. The new lease term
commenced in October 2007 and terminates six Yearsthe date of commencement with an option t@vefor an additional five-year
term. The Company’s annual rent payments totghgadaximately $527,000 in 2008 and will remain atttlevel through February 2010, before
increasing to approximately $558,000 through Ma¥2@nd approximately $590,000 through the enti@igase.

The landlord provided the Company with certain imteees as an inducement to enter the lease agreasmeéhese incentives included (i) an
allowance of $163,330 for leasehold improvementthenOriginal Space, (ii) an allowance of $200,8@0easehold improvements on the
Additional Space, and (iii) an initial six-monthitefree period on half of the Additional Space.akehold improvements funded by the landlord
have been (i) capitalized and are being amortizexl the remaining lease term and (ii) recognizededsrred rent and amortized over the term of
the lease. The economic value of the rent-fremg@és being amortized ratably over the term & kbase.
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Other Commitments and Contingencies . One of the purchase agreements related to F€Rdes includes contingent payments of
$375,000, depending on the status of the licensle the FCC, and whether the Company has obtainptbegl to broadcast terrestrially in
3650 to 3700 MHz band. The contingent paymentsideca $100,000 cash payment (due in May 2009)tladssuance of common stock wil
value of $275,000 (due in May 2011).
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountas on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.
None.

Item 9A(T). Controls and Procedures.

Controls and Procedures

We carried out an evaluation, under the superviaimhwith the participation of our management,udatg our chief executive officer and
chief financial officer, of the effectiveness oettesign and operation of our disclosure contmatsmocedures, as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and
15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1884mended (the “Exchange Act”). Disclosuretcols and procedures include, without
limitation, controls and procedures designed taem¢hat information required to be disclosed bysaner in the reports that it files or submits
under the Exchange Act is accumulated and commiguida the issuer’'s management, including its fppedcexecutive and principal financial
officers, or persons performing similar functioas,appropriate to allow timely decisions regardemguired disclosure. Based upon our evalua
our chief executive officer and chief financialioffr concluded that our disclosure controls andg@dares are effective, as of December 31, 2008,
in ensuring that material information that we arquired to disclose in reports that we file or sithmder the Exchange Act is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the pien@ds specified in the Securities and Exchangar@ission rules and forms.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportm

There were no changes in our internal control dwancial reporting during the fourth quarter oétyear ended December 31, 2008 that have
materially affected, or are reasonably likely totenglly affect, our internal control over finantiaporting.

Managements Annual Report on Internal Control over FinancidReporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@aorting. Internal control over
financial reporting is defined in Rules 13a-15(fipjal5d45(f) under the Securities Exchange Act as a podesigned by, or under the supervit
of, a company’s principal executive and principahhcial officers and effected by a company’s ba#rdirectors, management and other
personnel to provide reasonable assurance regatngliability of financial reporting and the pagation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepteduatiog principles. Our internal control over fingaaeporting includes those policies and
procedures that:

« pertain to the maintenance of records that, inaealsle detail, accurately and fairly reflect thengactions and dispositions of our assets;

« provide reasonable assurance that transactione@reded as necessary to permit preparation ofidiahstatements in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles, anddbatreceipts and expenditures are being made ardgéordance with authorizations of
our management and directors; ¢

« provide reasonable assurance regarding preventibmely detection of unauthorized acquisition, oselisposition of our assets that
could have a material effect on the financial stegets.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohbver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢tmisstatements. Projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods atgect to the risk that controls may become inadégjbecause of changes in conditions, or that
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

Our management assessed the effectiveness oftetmahcontrol over financial reporting as of Det®mn31, 2008. In making this
assessment, management used the criteria sebfottie Committee of Sponsoring Organizations offtreadway Commission (COSO) in
Internal Control — Integrated Framework.

Based on our assessment, our management has ceth¢had, as of December 31, 2008, our internalroboter financial reporting is
effective based on those criteria.
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This annual report does not include an attestaBport of our registered public accounting firmastjng internal control over financial
reporting. Management’s report was not subjectt@station by our registered public accounting fpursuant to temporary rules of the Securities
and Exchange Commission that permit us to providg management’s report in this annual report.

Item 9B. Other Information.

None.
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PART IlI
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corpora¢ Governance.

The information required by this item will be setth in the proxy statement for our 2009 Annual ktegof Stockholders to be filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission not later ti2éndhys after the end of the fiscal year coverethtsyreport on Form 10-K, and is
incorporated by reference from our proxy statement.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

The information required by this item will be setth in the proxy statement for our 2009 Annual kitegeof Stockholders to be filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission not later ti2é&ndhys after the end of the fiscal year coverethtsyreport on Form 10-K, and is
incorporated by reference from our proxy statement.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial @Qvners and Management and Related Stockholder Matter

The information required by this item will be setth in the proxy statement for our 2009 Annual kteg of Stockholders to be filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission not later ti2éndhys after the end of the fiscal year coverethtsyreport on Form 10-K, and is
incorporated by reference from our proxy statement.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transaains, and Director Independence.

The information required by this item will be setth in the proxy statement for our 2009 Annual ke of Stockholders to be filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission not later ti2éndhys after the end of the fiscal year coverethtsyreport on Form 10-K, and is
incorporated by reference from our proxy statement.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services.
The information required by this item will be setth in the proxy statement for our 2009 Annual kitegeof Stockholders to be filed with the

Securities and Exchange Commission not later ti2éndhys after the end of the fiscal year coverethtsyreport on Form 10-K, and is
incorporated by reference from our proxy statement.
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PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
Exhibit No. Description
2.1 Agreement of Merger and Plan of Reorganizatiated January 12, 2007, by and among Universitys@edlendar, Ltd.,
Towerstream Acquisition, Inc. and Towerstream Coaion (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1he Current Report on
Form &K of Towerstream Corporation filed with the Sedestand Exchange Commission on January 19, 2
3.1 Certificate of Incorporation of University Gindalendar, Ltd. (Incorporated by reference to Ext8bl to the Current Report on
Form &K of University Girls Calendar, Ltd. filed with tHeecurities and Exchange Commission on Januar9(,)z
3.2 Certificate of Amendment to Certificate of Incorption of University Girls Calendar, Ltd., changithe Company’s name to
Towerstream Corporation (Incorporated by refergndexhibit 3.3 to the Current Report on Form 8-KTafwerstream
Corporation filed with the Securities and Excha@genmission on January 19, 200
3.3 By-Laws of Towerstream Corporation (Incorporagdeference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Current Reporform 8-K of
Towerstream Corporation filed with the Securitiesl &xchange Commission on January 19, 2C
3.4 Amendment No. 1 to the Byaws of Towerstream Corporation (Incorporated dgnence to Exhibit 3.1 to the Current Repor
Form &K of Towerstream Corporation filed with the Sedestand Exchange Commission on August 30, 2(
10.1* Towerstream Corporation 2007 Equity CompensédRilam (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1hte Current Report on
Form &K of Towerstream Corporation filed with the Sedestand Exchange Commission on January 19, 2
10.2* Form of 2007 Equity Compensation Plan Incentiteck Option Agreement (Incorporated by referencExbibit 10.18 to the
Current Report on Form 8-K of Towerstream Corporafiled with the Securities and Exchange Commissio
January 19, 2007
10.3* Form of 2007 Equity Compensation Plan Non-Quedifstock Option Agreement (Incorporated by refeeancExhibit 10.19 to
the Current Report on Form 8-K of Towerstream Coafion filed with the Securities and Exchange Cossiain on
January 19, 2007
10.4 Form of Directors and Officers Indemnification rkgment (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1@alfhe Current Report on
Form &K of Towerstream Corporation filed with the Sedestand Exchange Commission on January 19, 2
10.5*% Towerstream Corporation 2007 Incentive Stock Rilacorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to Registration Statement on
Form SB-2 (File No. 333-142032) of Towerstream Q@oagion initially filed with the Securities and Eh@nge Commission on
April 11, 2007).
10.6 Form of Placement Agent Agreement for June 208@&ridg (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10tbGhe Registration
Statement on Form SB-2 (333-142032) of Towerstr€amporation filed with the Securities and Excha@genmission on April
11, 2007).
10.7 Form of Subscription Agreement (Incorporated d&fgrence to Exhibit 10.11 to the Registration Steet on Form SB-2 (333-
142032) of Towerstream Corporation filed with trec@rities and Exchange Commission on April 11, 20
10.8** Employment Agreement, dated December 21, 20GWdsa Towerstream Corporation and Jeffrey M. Thamg$ncorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report-orm 8-K of Towerstream Corporation filed wittetSecurities and
Exchange Commission on December 31, 20
10.9 Office Lease Agreement dated March 21, 2007 betweeh 2, 3, & 4 LLC (Landlord) and Towerstream Goggion (Tenant)
10.10 First Amendment to Office Lease dated August 8,72@0nending Office Lease Agreement dated Marcl2(0.
21.1 List of Subsidiaries
23.1 Consent of Marcum & Kliegman LL
31.1 Section 302 Certification of Principal Executivefioér
31.2 Section 302 Certification of Principal Financialfioér
32.1 Section 906 Certification of Principal Executivefioér
32.2 Section 906 Certification of Principal Financialfioér

* Management compensatory p
**  Management contra
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, therednty authorized.

TOWERSTREAM CORPORATION

Date: March 18, 2009 By: /s/ Jeffrey M. Thompso

Jeffrey M. Thompsol
President and Chief Executive Offic

In accordance with the Exchange Act, this repostiheen signed below by the following persons oraliet the registrant and in the
capacities and on the dates indicated.

Name Capacity Date
/sl Jeffrey M. Thompso Director and Chief Executive Officer March 18, 2009
Jeffrey M. Thompsol (President and Principal Executive Offic
/sl Joseph P. Hernc Chief Financial Officer March 18, 2009
Joseph P. Hernc (Principal Financial Officer an

Principal Accounting Officer

/s/ Philip Ursc Director - Chairman of the Board of Directors March 18, 2009
Philip Urso

/s/ Howard L. Haronian, M.C Director March 18, 2009
Howard L. Haronian, M.D

/s/ William J. Bust Director March 18, 2009
William J. Bush

/s/ Paul Koehle Director March 18, 2009
Paul Koehlel
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EXHIBIT INDEX
Exhibit No. Description
2.1 Agreement of Merger and Plan of Reorganizatiated January 12, 2007, by and among Universitys@dlendar, Ltd.,
Towerstream Acquisition, Inc. and Towerstream Coafion (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1He Current Report on
Form &K of Towerstream Corporation filed with the Sedestand Exchange Commission on January 19, 2
3.1 Certificate of Incorporation of University Gifgalendar, Ltd. (Incorporated by reference to Ext8hl to the Current Report on
Form &K of University Girls Calendar, Ltd. filed with thgecurities and Exchange Commission on Januar§(&,)z
3.2 Certificate of Amendment to Certificate of Incorption of University Girls Calendar, Ltd., changithe Company’s name to
Towerstream Corporation (Incorporated by referendexhibit 3.3 to the Current Report on Form 8-KTafverstream
Corporation filed with the Securities and Excha@genmission on January 19, 200
3.3 By-Laws of Towerstream Corporation (Incorporalbgdeference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Current Reporform 8-K of
Towerstream Corporation filed with the Securitiesl &xchange Commission on January 19, 2C
3.4 Amendment No. 1 to the Byaws of Towerstream Corporation (Incorporated dgnence to Exhibit 3.1 to the Current Repor
Form &K of Towerstream Corporation filed with the Sedestand Exchange Commission on August 30, 2(
10.1* Towerstream Corporation 2007 Equity Compenséfilam (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1hte Current Report on
Form &K of Towerstream Corporation filed with the Sedestand Exchange Commission on January 19, 2
10.2* Form of 2007 Equity Compensation Plan Incentita@k Option Agreement (Incorporated by referencEsthibit 10.18 to the
Current Report on Form 8-K of Towerstream Corporafiled with the Securities and Exchange Commissio
January 19, 2007
10.3* Form of 2007 Equity Compensation Plan Non-QuetdifStock Option Agreement (Incorporated by refeeendExhibit 10.19 to
the Current Report on Form 8-K of Towerstream Coapion filed with the Securities and Exchange Cossiain on
January 19, 2007
10.4 Form of Directors and Officers Indemnification rekgment (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1@althe Current Report on
Form &K of Towerstream Corporation filed with the Sedestand Exchange Commission on January 19, 2
10.5* Towerstream Corporation 2007 Incentive Stock Rilacorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 toRegistration Statement on
Form SB-2 (File No. 333-142032) of Towerstream @oation initially filed with the Securities and Eh@ange Commission on
April 11, 2007).
10.6 Form of Placement Agent Agreement for June 20f@riDg (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10tbGhe Registration
Statement on Form SB-2 (333-142032) of Towerstr€amporation filed with the Securities and Excha@genmission on April
11, 2007).
10.7 Form of Subscription Agreement (Incorporated déference to Exhibit 10.11 to the Registration Sieset on Form SB-2 (333-
142032) of Towerstream Corporation filed with threc@rities and Exchange Commission on April 11, 20
10.8** Employment Agreement, dated December 21, 20GWedsn Towerstream Corporation and Jeffrey M. Thangsncorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Reporform 8-K of Towerstream Corporation filed witletSecurities and
Exchange Commission on December 31, 20
10.9 Office Lease Agreement dated March 21, 2007 betwesh 2, 3, & 4 LLC (Landlord) and Towerstream Gogiion (Tenant)
10.10 First Amendment to Office Lease dated August 8,72@0nending Office Lease Agreement dated Marcl @17,
211 List of Subsidiaries
23.1 Consent of Marcum & Kliegman LL
31.1 Section 302 Certification of Principal Executivefiodr
31.2 Section 302 Certification of Principal Financialfioér
32.1 Section 906 Certification of Principal Executivefioér
32.2 Section 906 Certification of Principal Financialfioér

* Management compensatory p
**  Management contra




























































































































Exhibit 10.10

FIRST AMENDMENT TO LEASE

This First Amendment to Lease (this “Amendment’jnade as of the 8th day of August, 2007, by andéet BROOKWOOD
MIDDLETOWN TECH, LLC, a Delaware limited liabilitgompany, successor in interest to TECH PLAZA 2, 8,&LC, a Rhode Island limited
liability company (the “Landlord”) and TOWERSTREAMINC., f/k/a TOWERSTREAM CORPORATION, a Delawarerporation (the
“Tenant”), in the following circumstances:

A. Landlord and Tenant are parties toltbase dated March 21, 2007 (the “Lease”) for &asé of 17,137 rentable square
feet of space in the building located in the Tedbaza Office Building located at 55 Hammarlund \Wslyddletown, Rhode Island, and as further
described in the Lease (the “Phase I, Il and ldnkises”). The parties acknowledge that they afRhiase Il of the Lease and that the Phase Il
Commencement Date and the Phase Il Rent Comment®atnhave passed.

B. Tenant has requested that Landlordifpaértain of the terms and conditions of the Lesa® expand the premises
leased from Landlord to include approximately 2B,8@ntable square feet of space in the buildingtlet in the Tech 4 Plaza Office Building
located at 88 Silva Lane, Middletown, Rhode Isl&hé “Expansion Premises’and to allow Tenant to extend the term of the Leasd Landlorc
has agreed to modify such terms and conditionspblytupon the terms and conditions set forth below

NOW, THEREFORE, the undersigned, for good and J\d&iaonsideration, the receipt and sufficiency bfahi is hereby
acknowledged, hereby agree as follows:

1. The definition of “Premises” contaihi@ Section 1.®f the Lease is hereby amended to include the BiparfPremises, which
Expansion Premises is shown on Exhibiattached hereto. If the Expansion Premises Comemeait Date (as hereinafter defined) occurs during
Phase Il of the Lease, the definition of PremisestBble Area during Phase Il contained in Secti@mflthe Lease is hereby amended to be
37,874 rentable square feet. If the Expansion BesrCommencement Date (as hereinafter definediscluring Phase Il of the Lease, the
definition of Premises Rentable Area during Phéisedntained in_Section 1.8f the Lease is hereby amended to be 42,137 rensgjiare feet.
Exhibit A to this Amendment is hereby incorporated by refeeanto the Lease. All references in the Leagbéd’remises shall mean the
Premises as increased by the Expansion Premidesféxences in the Lease to the “Buildirgfiall mean the Tech 2 Office Building, as it app
to the Phase I, Il and Il Premises, and the Te€lfite Building as it applies to the Expansioniges. The Expansion Premises are being
leased in AS IS condition, without warranty or eg@ntation by Landlord. Tenant’s access to andawgments to the Expansion Premises shall
be subject to the terms of the Lease.

2. The definition of “Building Rentablgea” contained in Section 18 the Lease is hereby deleted in its entirety thed
following definition of “Building Rentable Area” ieereby substituted therefore and inserted in plaeeeof:




“Building Rentable Area:
Tech 2 Plaza Office Building: 44,404 rentable squUaet, as measured in accordance with BOMA.
Tech 4 Plaza Office Building: 151,924 rentableagueet, as measured in accordance with BOMA”

3. The definition of “Escalation Fact@dntained in Section 1 the Lease is hereby deleted in its entirety tedfollowing
definition of “Escalation Factor” is hereby substiéd therefore and inserted in place thereof:

“Escalation Factor Phase |, Il and Il Premisesiribg Phase | the Escalation Factor or “Proportierghare” shall be
13.07%. During Phase Il the Escalation FactoRspportionate Shareshall be 28.99%. During Phase lll, the Escalakanto!
or “Proportionate Share” shall be 38.59%.

Escalation Factor Expansion Premises: The Esoal&tctor or “Proportionate Share” for the Expangtoemises shall be
16.46%.”

4. The definition of “Basic Rent” comad in_Section 1.8f the Lease is hereby deleted in its entirety edfollowing definition
of “Basic Rent” is hereby substituted therefore arsrted in place thereof:

“ Phase |

Per
Annual Rent  Monthly Rent RSF

Month 1 through May 12, 20C $ 72550.00 $ 6,0458. $ 12.5C

Phase I

Per
Annual Reni Monthly Rent RSF

May 13, 2007 through
Phase Ill Commencement Dz $ 160,925.00 $ 13,4104 $ 12.5C

Phase Il

Per
Annual Reni Monthly Rent RSF

Phase Ill Commencement Date
Through February 28, 20! $ 2142125 $ 17,851.00 $ 12.5(

March 1, 2010 through
May 12, 201z $ 227,065.2 $ 18,9221 $ 13.2¢

May 13, 2012 through
Termination Date $ 23991800 $ 19,9931 $ 14.0C




Expansion Premises (in addition to Phase Il or Phaslll Basic Rent as applicable)

Per
Annual Ren Monthly Rent RSF

Expansion Premises Commencen $ 312,500.0 $ 26,0416 $ 12.5(
Date through February 28, 20

March 1, 2010 through
May 12, 201z $ 331,250.0 $ 27,6041 $ 13.2¢

May 13, 2012 through
Termination Dat” $ 350,000.0 $ 29,166.6° $ 14.0C

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contaihedein, the Basic Rent due from Tenant under tlessédor the Expansion Premises
shall not be due and payable on 12,500 rentablaredaet of the Expansion Premises (the “Free Resrhises”) for a six (6) month period (the
“Free Rent Period”), so that the Basic Rent dumfiienant under the Lease shall be reduced for suqi6) month period by the amount of
$156,250.00 (12,500 rentable square feet at $®b8quare foot), beginning with the month begigras of the Expansion Commencement Date
and continuing for five (5) additional months thegter.

5. Tenant shall have, as appurtenatiteéd’remises and during the Term of this Leaserigihé to use any and all furniture,
including but not limited to cubicles and desksthivi the Expansion Premises. Landlord makes nesgmtations or warranties regarding the
condition of such furniture, and such right to gseh furniture is granted in as is condition, whsrevith all faults. Any and all furniture that
tenant elects to use will become the personal ptppé tenant and shall be subject to Section 5 #he Lease.

6. The definition of “Security Depositdntained in Section 1&f the Lease is hereby deleted in its entirety edollowing
definition of “Security Deposit” is hereby substid therefore and inserted in place thereof:

“ Security Deposit: As follows: $105,351.05”

7. The definition of “Commencement Datehtained in Section 4df the Lease is hereby deleted in its entirety twedollowing
definition of “Commencement Date” is hereby suléitl therefore and inserted in place thereof:




“ Commencement Date The Commencement Date of this Lease is Mar@®Q7. The Phase Il Commencement Date is May
13, 2007. The Phase Il Commencement Date shdldérst to occur of the following: (i) the dégllowing the date Landlord
delivers the Phase Ill Premises to Tenant with lanads Work (as defined in Section 505the Lease) substantially completed;
or (ii) the date on which Tenant occupies all oy part of the Phase Ill Premises for the condudefant’s normal business
operations; or (iii) the Expansion Premises Commarent Date (as hereinafter defined). The ExparBiemises
Commencement Date is the earlier of (i) the datevbich Tenant occupies all or any part of the Exgdi@am Premises for the
conduct of Tenant's normal business operation§j)ddctober 1, 2007. Landlord and Tenant eaclebgmagree to execute and
deliver a Memorandum of Lease confirming the PhiAs2Bommencement Date and the Expansion Premisesn@mcement

Date once such dates are determined.”

8. The definition of “Term of this Ledsmntained in Section 1.8f the Lease is hereby deleted in its entirety edollowing
definition of “Term of this Lease” is hereby sulisted therefore and inserted in place thereof:

“ Term of this Lease: Term of this Lease shall be for the period from@m@mmencement Date through the Expansion Prel
Date plus six (6) years, expiring, unless sooneniteated pursuant to the provisions of this Leasd.1:59 p.m. on the day

immediately preceding the sixth ‘(6 anniversary of the Expansion Premises Commencebete (“Termination
Date”). Tenant has an option to extend this Léasene five-year term as set forth below.”

9. The following terms are herein defirsed added and inserted into Sectiondf.the Lease and made a part thereof:

“Base Taxes: for purposes of Section 8fthe Lease, the term “Base Taxes” shall be theuarnof Taxes incurred by Landlord
for the Calendar Year 2006 for The Phase I, Il BhEremises and the Calendar Year 2007 for thealBgmn Premises.

Base Operating Expenses: for purposes of Sectibof@he Lease, the term “Base Operating Expenses! Bh the amount of
Operating Expenses incurred by Landlord in Calenasar 2007.

Base Utility Expenses: for purposes of Sectiond.the Lease, the term “Base Utility Expenses” balthe amount of Utility
Expenses incurred by Landlord in Calendar Year 2007

10. Landlord and Landlord’s Address (fentrpayment) in Section 1d? the Lease is hereby deleted in its entirety edfollowing
is hereby substituted therefore and inserted inepthereof:




“Landlord: Brookwood Middletown Tech, LL(
Landlorc's Address (for rent paymen Brookwood Middletown Tech, LL(
50 Dunham Roa
Beverly, MA 0191"

11. The last clause in Section 9.2(the Lease is hereby deleted in its entirety tedfollowing is hereby substituted therefore and
inserted in place thereof:

“provided, however, that Operating Expenses foppaes of this calculation, will not include the foam of Operating Expenses
under the sole control of the Landlord (“Control@perating Expenses”), if any, that representrawudative increase of more
than 5% per annum over the level of Controllable@fing Expenses in the Base Year (Calendar 2@8@djusted for the
extrapolation referenced herein to account for glkarin occupancy.”

12. Tenant shall be entitled to a tenamrowement allowance for the Expansion Premised 6f@® per rentable square foot, or
$250,000.00, towards the cost of any improvementkd Expansion Premises (the “Expansion Allowahc&hy and all costs for improvements
to the Expansion Premises which exceed the Expargiowance shall be paid for by Tenant. Tenaralshot be entitled to payment of that
portion of the Expansion Allowance that is attréthie to the Free Rent Premises until the Free Reridd has expired. Up to $50,000 of the
Expansion Allowance may be allocated by Tenantddkin Tenant’s leased space in the Tech Plaz&fizedBuilding. All tenant improvements
(“Expansion Tenant Improvements”) will be complete@ccordance with the Tenant Work Letter attadiheeto as Exhibit B

13. Section 16.1@f the Lease is hereby deleted in its entirety thiedfollowing Section 16.1linserted in place thereof and
substituted therefor:

“SECURITY DEPOSIT. Security Deposit dhz $105,351.05.”
Such Security Deposit shall be due and payabld geealate of execution of this Amendment.

14. Upon reasonable notice, Tenant shallige to the occupants of the Tech 2 Plaza Offiagdig access to the loading dock
within the Premises.

15. Except as otherwise defined hereinsarapitalized in ordinary usage, all capitalizedie used herein shall have the same
meaning as set forth for such terms in the Lease.

16. Except as expressly provided hereionfalhe terms provisions and conditions of the leglasrein shall remain in full force and
effect. In the event that any of the provisionshaf Lease are inconsistent with this Amendmenheistate of facts contemplated hereby, the
provisions of this Amendment shall control.




17. The terms and conditions of this Ameedtrshall be binding upon and shall inure to theeffie of Landlord and Tenant and th
respective successors and assigns.

18. Tenant shall have the same rights défdto it by and obligations contained in Sectidhd the Lease at the Expansion Pren
as it does at the Phase |, Il and 1l PremisescHipally, Tenant may install up to four (4) 1&mnon-penetrating dish antennae and four (4) 24-
inch nonpenetrating dish antennae on the roof of the Expariremises. These antennae are in additioretarttennae installed at the Phase

and Ill Premises.

[Signature page follows]




IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have duly etetthis Amendment as of the date first above emitt
LANDLORD:
BROOKWOOD MIDDLETOWN TECH, LLC

By: Brookwood Real Estate Partners I, LI
its sole membe

By:Brookwood Real Estate Co., I, LL
its Managel

By: /s/ Eve M. Trilla

Eve M. Trilla
Chief Financial Office|

TENANT:
TOWERSTREAM I, INC.

By: /s/ George E. Kilguss ||

George E. Kilguss Il
Chief Financial Officel




EXHIBIT A

The Expansion Premises




EXHIBIT B
Tenant Work Letter
It is agreed that Tenant will complete all improwats in accordance with the following terms:

1. Tenant Improvements.Tenant shallrégponsible for the design and construction ofirapprovements to the Expansion Prem
(“Expansion Tenant Improvements”). Tenant shaltirsit tenant improvement plans to Landlord for Lamdls review no later than ten (10) d
from the date hereof. The Expansion Tenant Impr@re Plans shall be designed and detailed so likaExpansion Tenant Improvements
comply with applicable laws and building codes.tiWi seven (7) days after Landlosdieceipt of the Expansion Tenant Improvement k
Landlord shall either approve the Expansion Tet@provement Plans (with Landloslapproval not to be unreasonably withheld) orpisave
the Expansion Tenant Improvement Plans. Any disa@b shall include a detailed explanation of tlegected components of the Expan:
Tenant Improvement Plans. If Landlord fails top@sd in the established timeframe, the Expansiaramelmprovement Plans shall be deeme
be approved by Landlord. If Landlord disapprovee Expansion Tenant Improvement Plans, tenant nulynis a revised version of t
Expansion Tenant Improvement Plans to Landlordit®rreview in the same manner described abovearitemay continue such appro
procedure until Landlord’ approval of the Expansion Tenant Improvementdiarobtained or is deemed obtained. Once the riskpa Tenar
Improvement Plans have been approved by Landloshafit shall submit the Expansion Tenant Improvenf@ans to the appropric
governmental agency(ies) for the necessary petmitonstruct the Expansion Tenant Improvementsy #enmaterial change to the Expan:
Tenant Improvement Plans required by a governmaugghcy shall be deemed approved by Landlord. ritesieall submit any material change
the Expansion Tenant Improvement Plans required §gvernmental agency to Landlord for its reviewhi@a manner described above, except
the timeframe in such event shall be five (5) besghdays. Once the Expansion Tenant ImprovemansRlre approved (or deemed approve!
Landlord and Tenant has obtained the necessaryraootisn permits, Tenant shall retain a reputalderised and insured contractor(s), of Terant’
choice but subject to Landlosiprior written approval, not to be unreasonablthiaéld or delayed, to perform the constructionhaf Expansio
Tenant Improvements. Such construction shall iéopaed in substantial compliance with the approfegbansion Tenant Improvement Ple
Tenant shall have the Expansion Tenant Improventamtstructed in a professional, workmanlike manner.




2. Payment of Expansion Allowance. dland shall pay to Tenant the Expansion Allowanceaccordance with the terms hereof.
Expansion Allowance shall be used to pay for castsociated with Tenast'design and construction of the Expansion Tenaprdvement:
which costs may include, but shall not be limited(g) all costs charged to Tenant by contrac&ubgcontractors and suppliers for constructic
the Expansion Tenant Improvements and installatioienants equipment; (b) fees, assessments and costs assbuiith securing approve
permits and licenses; (c) costs of constructioruriasce (including, without limitation, casualtyability, theft and workers‘compensatio
insurance); (d) utility hookip fees; (e) premiums for any bonds required byahen(f) architectural, design and engineering festated to th
Tenant Improvements; and (g) construction managerfess incurred by Landlord for supervision of tR&pansion Improvements. T
Expansion Allowance shall not be used towards thehmse of any items of personal property. Lambkirall pay the amount of the Expan:
Allowance in progress payments (payable no momuiatly than monthly) after the date Tenant obtaihsiilding permit covering construction
the Expansion Tenant Improvements. Such progragments shall be made by Landlord not later than(1®) days after receipt by Landl
from Tenant of copies of invoices evidencing cortgdevork and/or services provided. Each invoicaldhe accompanied by a written staten
verifying that the work evidenced by such invoi@stbeen completed, and/or that services evidengadidh invoice have been performed; ¢
verification shall be rendered by Tenantarchitect, except that with regard to costs, fard assessments not charged by contra
subcontractors, or suppliers, such verification rbayrendered by TenastRepresentative, George Kilguss, lll. Further,hemwvoice shall b
accompanied by a conditional construction lien waiypertaining to such invoiced work, from the gaheontractor and each subcontrac
laborer or materialman, and by an unconditionalstrmetion lien waiver, pertaining to previous wddt which payment has already been m
from the general contractor and each subcontraletoorer or materialman. Completion of the Expansienant Improvements will be confirn
upon Landlords receipt of a Certificate of Completion for thep@rsion Premises issued by the Town of Middletowaidihg Inspector ar
delivered to Landlord by Tenant. Landlord shalénano obligation to make any progress payment whileuncured default in the Least
continuing and the total of all such progress payevill in no event exceed the amount of the Exjiam Allowance. To the extent Expans
Tenant Improvements have been paid for by the EsiparAllowance, such Expansion Tenant Improvemshtdl be deemed at all times to
Landlord’s property.

3. As Is. Except for the work déised in this Work Letter, Tenant accepts the ExmanBremises in its “as is” condition.

4, Defined Terms.  All terms herased shall have the same meaning as when uskd reise and this First Amendment to Lease.
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Exhibit 21.1
SUBSIDIARIES OF TOWERSTREAM CORPORATION

The following is a list of subsidiaries of Toweedam Corporation as of December 31, 2008, omittomgessubsidiaries which, considered i
aggregate, would not constitute a significant siibsy:

Subsidiary Jurisdiction of Organizatio

Towerstream |, Inc Delaware




Exhibit 23.1

INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM CONSENT

We consent to the incorporation by reference inRlgistration Statements of Towerstream Corporatiofrorm S-3 (File No. 33341405) an
on Form S-8 (File No. 33351306) of our report dated March 16, 2009, withpext to our audits of the consolidated financiatesnents ¢
Towerstream Corporation as of December 31, 200880d and for the years then ended which reparcisided in this Annual Report on Fo
10-K of Towerstream Corporation for the year enBedember 31, 2008.

/sl Marcum & Kliegman, LLP
New York, New York
March 16, 2009




EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUA NT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Jeffrey M. Thompson, certify that:

@)
@)

©)

4

®)

I have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Towerstream Corporation for the fiscal yeadeth December 31, 200

Based on my knowledge, this report does not corajnuntrue statement of a material fact or om#itéde a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the cistamces under which such statements were madmisieading with respect to tl
period covered by this repo

Based on my knowledge, the financial statemenis,odiner financial information included in this refhdairly present in all material
respects, the financial condition, results of ofiers and cash flows of the registrant as of, amdthe periods presented in this
report;

The registrans other certifying officer(s) and | are responsiioleestablishing and maintaining disclosure cdstemd procedures (
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%(nd internal control over financial reportireg defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduregused such disclosure controls and procedures tlesigned under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidh&ubsidiaries, is made kno
to us by others within those entities, particulahlyring the period in which this report is beingpared

b) Designed such internal control over financial réjpgr, or caused such internal control over finahaaorting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in ataoece with generally accepted accounting princij

C) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’sld&ire controls and procedures and presentedsimetport our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contints procedures, as of the end of the period cousretis report based on
such evaluation; an

d) Disclosed in the report any change in the regissanternal control over financial reporting thatcurred during the
registrant’'s most recent fiscal quarter (the regigts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of thewameport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaft, the registra’s internal control over financial reportir

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) antldve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theiteemmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct(ws persons performing the
equivalent functions)

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contradiofinancial reporting whic
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize aqubrt financial information;
and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significéain the registrang’
internal control over financial reportin

Date: March 18, 2009

/sl Jeffrey M. Thompso

Jeffrey M. Thompson
President and Chief Executive Offic




EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUA NT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Joseph P. Hernon, certify that:

@)
@)

©)

4

®)

I have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Towerstream Corporation for the fiscal yeadeth December 31, 200

Based on my knowledge, this report does not corajnuntrue statement of a material fact or om#itéde a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the cistamces under which such statements were madmisieading with respect to tl
period covered by this repo

Based on my knowledge, the financial statemenis,odiner financial information included in this refhdairly present in all material
respects, the financial condition, results of ofiers and cash flows of the registrant as of, amdthe periods presented in this
report;

The registrans other certifying officer(s) and | are responsiloleestablishing and maintaining disclosure cdstemd procedures (
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))}%(nd internal control over financial reportireg defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduregused such disclosure controls and procedures tlesigned under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidh&ubsidiaries, is made kno
to us by others within those entities, particulahlyring the period in which this report is beingpared

b) Designed such internal control over financial réjpgr, or caused such internal control over finahaaorting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in ataoece with generally accepted accounting princij

C) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’sld@ire controls and procedures and presentedsimetport our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contints procedures, as of the end of the period cousretis report based on
such evaluation; an

d) Disclosed in the report any change in the regissanternal control over financial reporting thatcurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regigts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of thewimeport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaft, the registra’s internal control over financial reportir

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) antldve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct(@s persons performing the
equivalent functions)

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contradiofinancial reporting whic
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regigt’s ability to record, process, summarize abrt financial information;
and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significéain the registrans’
internal control over financial reportin

Date: March 18, 2009

/s/ Joseph P. Hernc

Joseph P. Hernon
Chief Financial Office




EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S. C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Towerstre@orporation, (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for geended December 31, 2008 as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissionhe date hereof (the “Report”), |, Jeffrey Mh@mpson, President and

Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify,rpuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted potrsa&ection 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002, that, to my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSeiction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; anc

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly mrets, in all material respects, the financial ctiadiand results of operations of
the Company

Date: March 18, 2009

/sl Jeffrey M. Thompso
Jeffrey M. Thompson
President and Chief Executive Offic




EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Towerstre@orporation, (the “Company”) on Form 1R-for the year ended December 31, 2(
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commiseiothe date hereof (the “Report™), I, JosephHernon, Chief Financial Officer of the
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section0l 2 adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sasb@xley Act of 2002, that, to my
knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSeiction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; anc

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly mrets, in all material respects, the financial ctiadiand results of operations of
the Company

Date: March 18, 2009

/s/ Joseph P. Hernc
Joseph P. Hernon
Chief Financial Office




